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Chronological Index

Doc
No.

Description Vol. Bates Nos.

1 Complaint, filed 10/08/2012 I AA000001-
AA000008

2 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Complaint,
filed 11/15/2012

I AA000009-
AA000015

3 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss, filed 12/06/2012

I AA000016-
AA000059

4 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss Complaint, filed 01/10/2013

I AA000060-
AA000074

5 First Amended Complaint, filed 01/30/2013 I AA000075-
AA000081

6 Decision and Order, filed 02/11/2013 I AA000082-
AA000087

7 Defendant’s Motion for Reconsideration,
filed 02/27/2013

I AA000088-
AA000180

8 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion Seeking
Reconsideration of the Court’s February 8,
2013 Order Denying Defendants’ Motion to
Dismiss, filed 03/18/2013

I AA000181-
AA000187

9 Defendant’s Motion to Strike Amended
Complaint, filed 03/25/2013

I AA000188-
AA000192

10 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion for
Reconsideration, filed 03/28/2013

I AA000193-
AA000201

11 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Strike First Amended
Complaint and Counter-Motion for a Default
Judgment or Sanctions Pursuant to EDCR
7.60(b), filed 04/11/2013

II AA000202-
AA000231



12 Defendant A Cab, LLC’s Answer to
Complaint, filed 04/22/2013

II AA000232-
AA000236

13 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Strike Amended Complaint, filed 04/22/2013

II AA000237-
AA000248

14 Minute Order from April 29, 2013 Hearing II AA000249

15 Order, filed 05/02/2013 II AA000250-
AA000251

16 Defendant A Cab, LLC’s Answer to First
Amended Complaint, filed 05/23/2013

II AA000252-
AA000256

17 Motion to Certify this Case as a Class Action
Pursuant to NRCP Rule 23 and Appoint a
Special Master Pursuant to NRCP Rule 53,
filed 05/19/2015

II AA000257-
AA000398

18 Defendant’s Opposition to Motion to Certify
Case as Class Action Pursuant to NRCP 23
and Appoint a Special Master Pursuant to
NRCP 53, filed 06/08/2015

III AA000399-
AA000446

19 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify this Case as a
Class Action Pursuant to NRCP Rule 23 and
Appoint a Special Master Pursuant to NRCP
Rile 53, filed 07/13/2018

III AA000447-
AA000469

20 Defendant’s Motion for Declaratory Order
Regarding Statue of Limitations, filed
08/10/2015

III AA000470-
AA000570

21 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
Second Claim for Relief, filed 08/10/2015

III AA000571-
AA000581

22 Second Amended Supplemental Complaint,
filed 08/19/2015

III AA000582-
AA000599

23 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion for Declaratory Order
Regarding Statue of Limitations, filed

IV AA000600-
AA000650



08/28/2015

24 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
Second Claim for Relief, filed 08/28/2015

IV AA000651-
AA000668

25 Defendants Reply In Support of Motion to
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Second Claim for Relief,
filed 09/08/2015

IV AA000669-
AA000686

26 Defendant’s Reply In Support of Motion for
Declaratory Order Regarding Statue of
Limitations, filed 09/08/2015

IV AA000687-
AA000691

27 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
First Claim for Relief, filed 09/11/2015

IV AA000692-
AA000708

28 Defendant A Cab, LLC’s Answer to Second
Amended Complaint, filed 09/14/2015

IV AA000709-
AA000715

29 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and for
Summary Judgment Against Plaintiff
Michael Murray, filed 09/21/2015

IV AA000716-
AA000759

30 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and for
Summary Judgment Against Plaintiff
Michael Reno, filed 09/21/2015

IV, V AA000760-
AA000806

31 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Claim for
Relief, filed 09/28/2015

V AA000807-
AA000862

32 Defendant Creighton J. Nady’s Answer to
Second Amended Complaint, filed
10/06/2015

V AA000863-
AA000869

33 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss and for Summary
Judgment Against Plaintiff Michael Murray,
filed 10/08/2015

V AA000870-
AA000880

34 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss and for Summary

V AA000881-
AA000911



Judgment Against Plaintiff Michael Reno,
filed 10/08/2015

35 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss and for Summary Judgment Against
Plaintiff Michael Murray, filed 10/27/2015

V AA000912-
AA000919

36 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss and for Summary Judgment Against
Plaintiff Michael Reno, filed 10/27/2015

V AA000920-
AA000930

37 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Claim for Relief,
filed 10/28/2015

V AA000931-
AA001001

38 Transcript of Proceedings, November 3, 2015 VI AA001002-
AA001170

39 Minute Order from November 9, 2015
Hearing

VI AA001171

40 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part
Defendant’s Motion for Declaratory Order
Regarding Statue of Limitations, filed
12/21/2015

VI AA001172-
AA001174

41 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify
Class Action Pursuant to NRCP Rule
23(b)(2) and NRCP Rule 23(b)(3) and
Denying Without Prejudice Plaintiffs’
Motion to Appoint a Special Master Under
NRCP Rule 53, filed 02/10/2016

VI AA001175-
AA001190

42 Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to
Dismiss and For Summary Judgment Against
Michael Murray, filed 02/18/2016

VI AA001191-
AA001192

43 Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to
Dismiss and for Summary Judgment Against
Michael Reno, filed 02/18/2016

VI AA001193-
AA001194

44 Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration,
filed 02/25/2016

VII AA001195-
AA001231



45 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion Seeking
Reconsideration of the Court’s Order
Granting Class Certification, filed
03/14/2016

VII AA001232-
AA001236

46 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration, filed 03/24/2016

VII, VIII AA001237-
AA001416

47 Minute Order from March 28, 2016 Hearing VIII AA001417

48 Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion to Impose
Sanctions Against Defendants for Violating
This Court’s Order of February 10, 2016 and
Compelling Compliance with that Order on
an Order Shortening Time, filed 04/06/2016

VIII AA001418-
AA001419

49 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify
Class Action Pursuant to NRCP Rule
23(b)(2) and NRCP Rule 23(b)(3) and
Denying Without Prejudice Plaintiffs’
Motion to Appoint a Special Master Under
NRCP Rule 52 as Amended by this Court in
Response to Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration heard in Chambers on
March 28, 2016, filed 06/07/2016

VIII AA001420-
AA001435

50 Motion to Enjoin Defendants from Seeking
Settlement of Any Unpaid Wage Claims
Involving Any Class Members Except as Part
of this Lawsuit and for Other Relief, filed
10/14/2016

VIII AA001436-
AA001522

51 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Enjoin Defendants from Seeking
Settlement of any Unpaid Wage Claims
Involving any Class Members Except as Part
of this Lawsuit and for Other Relief, filed
11/04/2016

VIII AA001523-
AA001544

52 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Enjoin Defendants

VIII AA001545-
AA001586



From Seeking Settlement of any Unpaid
Wage Claims Involving any Class Members
Except as Part of this Lawsuit and for Other
Relief, filed 11/10/2016

53 Defendants’ Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings Pursuant to NRCP 12(c) with
Respect to All Claims for Damages Outside
the Two-Year Statue of Limitations, filed
11/17/2016

VIII AA001587-
AA001591

54 Defendants’ Motion for Leave to Amend
Answer to Assert a Third-Party Complaint,
filed 11/29/2016

IX AA001592-
AA001621

55 Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings, Counter Motion
for Toll of Statue of Limitations and for an
Evidentiary Hearing, filed 12/08/2016

IX AA001622-
AA001661

56 Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Leave
to Amend Answer to Assert Third-Party
Complaint and Counter-Motion for Sanctions
and Attorney’s Fees, filed 12/16/2016

IX, X,
XI

AA001662-
AA002176

57 Notice of Withdrawal of Defendants’ Motion
for Leave to Amend Answer to Assert a
Third-Party Complaint, filed 12/16/2016

XI AA002177-
AA002178

58 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings Pursuant to
NRCP 12(c) with Respect to All Claims for
Damages Outside the Two-Year Statue of
Limitation and Opposition to Counter
Motion for Toll of Statue of Limitations and
for an Evidentiary Hearing, filed 12/28/2016

XI AA002179-
AA002189

59 Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
01/11/2017

XII,
XIII,
XIV,
XV

AA002190-
AA002927



60 Motion to Bifurcate Issue of Liability of
Defendant Creighton J. Nady from Liability
of Corporate Defendants or Alternative
Relief, filed 01/12/2017

XV,
XVI

AA002928-
AA003029

61 Errata to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment, filed 01/13/2017

XVI AA003030-
AA003037

62 Defendants’ Motion for Leave to Amend
Answer to Assert a Third-Party Complaint,
filed 01/27/2017

XVI AA003038-
AA003066

63 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Bifurcate Issue of Liability of Defendant
Creighton J. Nady from Liability of
Corporate Defendants or Alternative Relief,
filed 01/30/2017

XVI AA003067-
AA003118

64 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
02/02/2017

XVI AA003119-
AA003193

65 Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Expedite
Issuance of Order Granting Motion Filed on
10/14/2016 to Enjoin Defendants from
Seeking Settlement of Any Unpaid Wage
Claims Involving any Class Members Except
as Part of this Lawsuit and for Other Relief
and for Sanctions, filed 02/03/2017

XVII,
XVIII

AA003194-
AA003548

66 Transcript of Proceedings, February 8, 2017 XVIII AA003549-
AA003567

67 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
on OST to Expedite Issuance of Order
Granting Motion Filed on 10/14/16 to Enjoin
Defendants from Seeking Settlement of any
Unpaid Wage Claims Involving any Class
Members Except as Part of this Lawsuit and
for Other Relief and for Sanctions, filed
02/10/2017

XVIII,
XIX

AA003568-
AA003620



68 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’s Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Expedite
Issuance of Order Granting Motion Filed on
10/14/2016 to Enjoin Defendants From
Seeking Settlement of Any Unpaid Wage
Claims Involving Any Class Members
Except as Part of This Lawsuit and For Other
Relief and for Sanctions, filed 02/10/2017

XIX AA003621-
AA003624

69 Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Leave
to Amend Answer to Assert Third-Party
Complaint and Counter-Motion for Sanctions
and Attorneys’ Fees, filed 02/13/2017

XIX AA003625-
AA003754

70 Transcript of Proceedings, February 14, 2017 XIX AA003755-
AA003774

71 Order Granting Certain Relief on Motion to
Enjoin Defendants From Seeking Settlement
of Any Unpaid Wage Claims Involving Any
Class Members Except as Part of this
Lawsuit and for Other Relief, filed
02/16/2017

XIX AA003775-
AA003776

72 Supplement to Order For Injunction Filed on
February 16, 2017, filed 02/17/2017

XIX AA003777-
AA003780

73 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part
Plaintiffs’ Motion to Have Case Reassigned
to Dept I per EDCR Rule 1.60 and
Designation as Complex Litigation per
NRCP Rule 16.1(f), filed on 02/21/2017

XIX AA003781-
AA003782

74 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment, filed 02/22/2017

XIX,
XX

AA003783-
AA003846

75 Plaintiffs’ Supplement to Plaintiffs’ Reply to
Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
02/23/2017

XX AA003847-
AA003888



76 Declaration of Charles Bass, filed
02/27/2017

XX AA003889-
AA003892

77 Transcript of Proceedings, May 18, 2017 XX,
XXI

AA003893-
AA004023

78 Supplement to Defendants’ Opposition to
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment, filed 05/24/2017

XXI AA004024-
AA004048

79 Supplement to Defendants’ Opposition to
Plaintiffs’ Motion to Bifurcate Issue of
Liability of Defendant Creighton J. Nady
From Liability of Corporate Defendants or
Alternative Relief, filed 05/31/2017

XXI AA004049-
AA004142

80 Motion on Order Shortening Time to Extend
Damages Class Certification and for Other
Relief, filed 06/02/2017

XXI AA004143-
AA004188

81 Decision and Order, filed 06/07/2017 XXI AA004189-
AA004204

82 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
on Order Shortening Time to Extend
Damages Class Certification and for Other
Relief, filed 06/09/2017

XXII AA004205-
AA004222

83 Transcript of Proceedings, June 13, 2017 XXII AA004223-
AA004244

84 Plaintiffs’ Motion to Impose Sanctions
Against Defendants for Violating this
Court’s Order of March 9, 2017 and
Compelling Compliance with that Order,
filed 07/12/2017

XXII AA004245-
AA004298

85 Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment, filed 07/14/2017

XXII AA004299-
AA004302

86 Order, filed 07/17/2017 XXII AA004303-
AA004304



87 Order, filed 07/17/2017 XXII AA004305-
AA004306

88 Order, filed 07/17/2017 XXII AA004307-
AA004308

89 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Impose Sanctions Against Defendants for
Violating this Court’s Order of March 9,
2017 and Compelling Compliance with that
Order, filed 07/31/2017

XXII AA004309-
AA004336

90 Order Denying Plaintiff’s Counter-Motion
for Sanctions and Attorneys’ Fees and Order
Denying Plaintiffs’ Anti-SLAPP Motion,
filed 07/31/2017

XXII AA004337-
AA004338

91 Declaration of Plaintiffs’ Counsel Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 11/02/2017

XXII,
XXIII,
XXIV,
XXV

AA004339-
AA004888

92 Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and
Motion to Place Evidentiary Burden on
Defendants to Establish “Lower Tier”
Minimum Wage and Declare NAC
608.102(2)(b) Invalid, filed 11/02/2017

XXV AA004889-
AA004910

93 Motion for Bifurcation and/or to Limit Issues
for Trial Per NRCP 42(b), filed 11/03/2017

XXV AA004911-
AA004932

94 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment and Motion to
Place Evidentiary Burden on Defendants to
Establish “Lower Tier” Minimum Wage and
Declare NAC 608.102(2)(b) Invalid, filed
11/20/2017

XXV,
XXVI

AA004933-
AA005030

95 Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment,
filed 11/27/2017

XXVI AA005031-
AA005122

96 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Bifurcation and/or to Limit Issues for

XXVI AA005123-
AA005165



Trial Per NRCP 42(b), filed 11/27/2017

97 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendant’s Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motions for Partial Summary
Judgment and to Place Evidentiary Burden
on Defendants to Establish “Lower Tier”
Minimum Wage and Declare NAC
608.102(2)(b) Invalid, filed 11/29/2017

XXVI,
XXVII

AA005166-
AA005276

98 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Bifurcation and/or to
Limit Issues for Trial Per NRCP 42(b), filed
12/01/2017

XXVII AA005277-
AA005369

99 Minute Order from December 7, 2017
Hearing

XXVII AA005370-
AA005371

100 Response in Opposition to Defendant’s
Motion for Summary Judgment, filed
12/14/2017

XXVII,
XXVIII

AA005372-
AA005450

101 Transcript of Proceedings, December 14,
2017

XXVIII AA005451-
AA005509

102 Defendants’ Motion in Limine to Exclude
Testimony of Plaintiffs’ Experts, filed
12/22/2017

XXVIII AA005510-
AA005564

103 Plaintiffs’ Omnibus Motion in Limine # 1-
25, filed 12/22/2017

XXVIII,
XXIV

AA005565-
AA005710

104 Defendants’ Reply in Support of Motion for
Summary Judgment, filed 12/27/2017

XXIV AA005711-
AA005719

105 Transcript of Proceedings, January 2, 2018 XXIV AA005720-
AA005782

106 Defendants’ Supplement as Ordered by the
Court on January 2, 2018, filed 01/09/2018

XXIV AA005783-
AA005832

107 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Support of Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
01/09/2018

XXX AA005833-
AA005966



108 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’
Omnibus Motion in Limine #1-25, filed
01/12/2018

XXX AA005967-
AA006001

109 Plaintiffs’ Response to Defendants’ Motion
in Limine to Exclude Expert Testimony, filed
01/12/2018

XXX,
XXXI

AA006002-
AA006117

110 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion in Limine #1-#25, filed
01/17/2018

XXXI AA006118-
AA006179

111 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion in
Limine to Exclude the Testimony of
Plaintiffs’ Experts, filed 01/19/2018

XXXI AA006180-
AA001695

112 Order, filed 01/22/2018 XXXI AA006196-
AA006199

113 Minute Order from January 25, 2018 Hearing XXXI AA006200-
AA006202

114 Transcript of Proceedings, January 25, 2018 XXXI AA006203-
AA006238

115 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Connection with
Appointment of Special Master, filed
01/31/2018

XXXII AA006239-
AA006331

116 Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for
Bifurcation and/or to Limit Issues for Trial
Per NRCP 42(b), filed 02/02/2018

XXXII AA006332-
AA006334

117 Transcript of Proceedings, February 2, 2018 XXXII AA006335-
AA006355

118 Defendants’ Supplement Pertaining to an
Order to Appoint Special Master, filed
02/05/2018

XXXII AA006356-
AA006385

119 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Appoint
a Special Master, filed 02/07/2018

XXXII AA006386-
AA006391

120 Defendants’ Supplement to Its Proposed XXXII AA006392-



Candidates for Special Master, filed
02/07/2018

AA006424

121 Order Modifying Court’s Previous Order of
February 7, 2019 Appointing a Special
Master, filed 02/13/2018

XXXII AA006425-
AA006426

122 Transcript of Proceedings, February 15, 2018 XXXII,
XXXIII

AA006427-
AA006457

123 NC Supreme Court Judgment, filed
05/07/2018

XXXIII AA006458-
AA006463

124 Pages intentionally omitted XXXIII AA006464-
AA006680

125 Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Lift Stay, Hold
Defendants in Contempt, Strike Their
Answer, Grant Partial Summary Judgment,
Direct a Prove Up Hearing, and Coordinate
Cases, filed 04/17/2018

XXXIII,
XXXIV

AA006681-
AA006897

126 Plaintiff Jasminka Dubric’s Opposition to
Michael Murray and Michael Reno’s Motion
for Miscellaneous Relief, filed 04/23/2018

XXXIV AA006898-
AA006914

127 Declaration of Class Counsel, Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 04/26/2018

XXXIV AA006915-
AA006930

128 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Jasminka Dubric’s
Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for
Miscellaneous Relief, filed 04/26/2018

XXXIV AA006931-
AA006980

129 Supplemental Declaration of Class Counsel,
Leon Greenberg, Esq., filed 05/16/2018

XXXIV AA006981-
AA007014

130 Second Supplemental Declaration of Class
Counsel, Leon Greenberg, Esq., filed
05/18/2018

XXXIV AA007015-
AA007064

131 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’
Declarations; Motion on OST to Lift Stay,
Hold Defendants in Contempt, Strike Their

XXXV AA007065-
AA007092



Answer, Grant Partial Summary Judgment,
Direct a Prove up Hearing, and Coordinate
Cases, filed 05/20/2018

132 Plaintiffs’ Reply to A Cab and Nady’s
Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for
Miscellaneous Relief, filed 05/21/2018

XXXV AA007093-
AA007231

133 Declaration of Class Counsel, Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 05/30/2018

XXXV AA007232-
AA007249

134 Defendants’ Response to Plaintiffs’
Additional Declaration, filed 05/31/2018

XXXVI AA007250-
AA007354

135 Memorandum re: Legal Authorities on the
Court’s Power to Grant a Default Judgment
as a Contempt or Sanctions Response to
Defendants’ Failure to Pay the Special
Master, filed 06/04/2018

XXXVI AA007355-
AA007359

136 Defendants’ Supplemental List of Citations
Per Court Order, filed 06/04/2018

XXXVI AA007360-
AA007384

137 Transcript of Proceedings, filed 07/12/2018 XXXVI,
XXXVII

AA007385-
AA007456

138 Declaration of Class Counsel, Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 06/20/2018

XXXVII
,
XXXVII
I,
XXXIX,
XL

AA007457-
AA008228

139 Plaintiffs Supplement in Support of Entry of
Final Judgment Per Hearing Held June 5,
2018, filed 06/22/2018

XL, XLI AA008229-
AA008293

140 Defendants’ Objection to Billing By Stricken
Special Master Michael Rosten, filed
06/27/2018

XLI AA008294-
AA008333

141 Opposition to Additional Relief Requested in
Plaintiffs’ Supplement, filed 07/10/2018

XLI AA008334-
AA008348



142 Defendants’ Supplemental Authority in
Response to Declaration of June 20, 2018,
filed 07/10/2018

XLI AA008349-
AA008402

143 Michael Rosten’s Response to Defendants’
Objection to Billing by Stricken Special
Master Michael Rosten, filed 07/13/2018

XLI AA008403-
AA008415

144 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Reply and In
Support of Entry of Final Judgment Per
Hearing Held June 5, 2018, filed 07/13/2018

XLI,
XLII

AA008416-
AA008505

145 Defendants’ Supplemental Authority in
Response to Plaintiffs’ Additional
Supplement Filed July 13, 2018, filed
07/18/2018

XLII AA008506-
AA008575

146 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Reply to
Defendants’ Supplement Dated July 18,
2018, filed 08/03/2018

XLII AA008576-
AA008675

147 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Judgment,
filed 08/22/2018

XLIII AA008676-
AA008741

148 Motion to Amend Judgment, filed
08/22/2018

XLIII AA008742-
AA008750

149 Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration,
Amendment, for New Trial, and for
Dismissal of Claims, filed 09/10/2018

XLIII AA008751-
AA008809

150 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Amend
Judgment, filed 09/10/2018

XLIII AA008810-
AA008834

151 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Amend Judgment,
filed 09/20/2018

XLIII,
XLIV

AA008835-
AA008891

152 Defendant’s Ex-Parte Motion to Quash Writ
of Execution and, in the Alternative, Motion
for Partial Stay of Execution on Order
Shortening Time, filed 09/21/2018

XLIV AA008892-
AA008916



153 Notice of Appeal, filed 09/21/2018 XLIV AA008917-
AA008918

154 Plaintiffs’ Response to Defendants’ Ex-Parte
Motion to Quash Writ of Execution on an
OST and Counter-Motion for Appropriate
Judgment Enforcement Relief, filed
09/24/2018

XLIV AA008919-
AA008994

155 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration,
Amendment, for New Trial and for Dismissal
of Claims, filed 09/27/2018

XLIV AA008995-
AA009008

156 Plaintiffs’ Supplemental Response to
Defendants’ Ex-Parte Motion to Quash Writ
of Execution on an OSt, filed 09/27/2018

XLIV AA009009-
AA009029

157 Defendant’s Exhibits in support of Ex-Parte
Motion to Quash Writ of Execution and, In
the Alternative, Motion for Partial Stay of
Execution on Order Shortening Time, filed
10/01/2018

XLIV,
XLV

AA009030-
AA009090

158 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab
Series, LLC, Administration Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009091-
AA009096

159 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab
Series, LLC, CCards Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009097-
AA009102

160 Claim from Exemption from Execution - A
Cab Series, LLC, Employee Leasing
Company Two, filed 10/04/2018

XLV AA009103-
AA009108

161 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab
Series, LLC, Maintenance Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009109-
AA009114

162 Claim from Exemption from Execution - A
Cab Series, LLC, Medallion Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009115-
AA009120



163 Claim from Exemption from Execution - A
Cab Series, LLC, Taxi Leasing Company,
filed 10/04/2018

XLV AA009121-
AA009126

164 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab,
LLC, filed 10/04/2018

XLV AA009127-
AA009132

165 Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Order Granting a
Judgment Debtor Examination and for Other
Relief, filed 10/05/2018

XLV AA009133-
AA009142

166 Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Award of Attorneys
Fees and Costs as Per NRCP Rule 54 and the
Nevada Constitution, filed 10/12/2018

XLV AA009143-
AA009167

167 Plaintiffs’ Objections to Claims from
Exemption from Execution and Notice of
Hearing, filed 10/15/2018

XLV AA009168-
AA009256

168 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Counter-Motion for
Appropriate Judgment Relief, filed
10/15/2018

XLV AA009257-
AA009263

169 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Response to
Plaintiffs’ Counter-Motion for Appropriate
Judgment Enforcement Relief, filed
10/16/2018

XLV AA009264-
AA009271

170 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration, Amendment, for New Trial,
and for Dismissal of Claims, filed
10/16/2018

XLV AA009272-
AA009277

171 Defendants’ Motion for Dismissal of Claims
on Order Shortening Time, filed 10/17/2018

XLV AA009278-
AA009288

172 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion for Dismissal of Claims
on an Order Shortening Time, filed
10/17/2018

XLVI AA009289-
AA009297

173 Notice of Entry of Order, filed 10/22/2018 XLVI AA009298-
AA009301



174 Order, filed 10/22/2018 XLVI AA009302-
AA009303

175 Transcript of Proceedings, October 22, 2018 XLVI AA009304-
AA009400

176 Plaintiffs’ Motion to File a Supplement in
Support of an Award of Attorneys Fees and
Costs as Per NRCP Rule 54 and the Nevada
Constitution, filed 10/29/2018

XLVI AA009401-
AA009413

177 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for an
Award of Attorneys Fees and Costs Per
NRCP Rule 54 and the Nevada Constitution,
filed 11/01/2018

XLVI,
XLVII

AA009414-
AA009552

178 Resolution Economics’ Application for
Order of Payment of Special Master’s Fees
and Motion for Contempt, filed 11/05/2018

XLVII AA009553-
AA009578

179 Affidavit in Support of Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment of Special Master’s Fees and
Motion for Contempt, filed 11/05/2018

XLVII AA009579-
AA009604

180 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Award of
Attorneys Fees and Costs as Per NRCP Rule
54 and the Nevada Constitution, filed
11/08/2018

XLVII AA009605-
AA009613

181 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to File a
Supplement in Support of an Award of
Attorneys Fees and Costs Per NRCP Rule 54
and the Nevada Constitution, filed
11/16/2018

XLVII AA009614-
AA009626

182 Plaintiffs’ Ex Parte Motion for Temporary
Restraining Order and Motion on an Order
Requiring the Turnover of Certain Property
of the Judgment Debtor Pursuant to NRS
21.320, filed 11/26/2018

XLVII AA009627-
AA009646



183 Opposition to Resolution Economics’
Application for Order of Payment of Special
Master’s Fees and Motion for Contempt,
filed 11/26/2018

XLVII AA009647-
AA009664

184 Plaintiffs’ Response to Special Master’s
Motion for an Order for Payment of Fees and
Contempt, filed 11/26/2018

XLVII AA009665-
AA009667

185 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to File a Supplement in
Support of an Award of Attorneys Fees and
Costs as Per NRCP Rule 54 and the Nevada
Constitution, filed 11/28/2018

XLVII AA009668-
AA009674

186 Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Ex-
Parte Motion for a Temporary Restraining
Order and Motion on an Order [sic]
Requiring the Turnover of Certain Property
of the Judgment Debtor Pursuant to NRS
21.320, filed 11/30/2018

XLVII AA009675-
AA009689

187 Resolution Economics’ Reply to Defendants’
Opposition and Plaintiffs’ Response to its
Application for an Order of Payment of
Special Master’s Fees and Motion for
Contempt, filed 12/03/2018

XLVII AA009690-
AA009696

188 Minute Order from December 4, 2018
Hearing

XLVIII AA009697-
AA009700

189 Transcript of Proceedings, December 4, 2018 XLVIII AA009701-
AA009782

190 Transcript of Proceedings, December 11,
2018

XLVIII AA009783-
AA009800

191 Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Other Relief, Including Receiver, filed
12/12/2018

XLVIII AA009801-
AA009812

192 Transcript of Proceedings, December 13,
2018

XLVIII AA009813-
AA009864



193 Notice of Entry of Order Denying Motion to
Quash, filed 12/18/2018

XLVIII AA009865-
AA009887

194 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Objections
to Claims from Exemption of Execution,
filed 12/18/2018

XLVIII AA009888-
AA009891

195 Plaintiffs’ Objections to Claims of
Exemption from Execution and Notice of
Hearing, filed 12/19/2018

XLIX AA009892-
AA009915

196 Order on Motion for Dismissal of Claims on
Order Shortening Time, filed 12/20/2018

XLIX AA009916-
AA009918

197 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Motion for
Judgment Enforcement, filed 01/02/2019

XLIX AA009919-
AA009926

198 Order Denying Defendants’ Counter-Motion
to Stay Proceedings and Collection Actions,
filed 01/08/2019

XLIX AA009927-
AA009928

199 Amended Notice of Appeal, filed 01/15/2019 XLIX AA009929-
AA009931

200 Motion to Amend the Court’s Order Entered
on December 18, 2018, filed 01/15/2019

XLIX AA009932-
AA009996

201 Motion to Distribute Funds Held by Class
Counsel, filed 01/5/2019

XLIX, L AA009997-
AA010103

202 Defendants’ Motion to Pay Special Master on
Order Shortening Time, filed 01/17/2019

L AA010104-
AA010114

203 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Pay Special Master on
an Order Shortening Time and Counter-
Motion for an Order to Turn Over Property,
filed 01/30/2019

L AA010115-
AA010200

204 Judgment and Order Granting Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment of Special Master’s Fees and Order
of Contempt, filed on 02/04/2019

L AA010201-
AA010207



205 Minute Order from February 5, 2019 Hearing L AA01208-
AA01209

206 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment and Contempt, filed 02/05/2019

L AA010210-
AA010219

207 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Plaintiffs’
Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs, filed
02/07/2019

L AA010220-
AA010230

208 Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration of
Judgment and Order Granting Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment of Special Master’s Fees and Order
of Contempt, filed 02/25/2019

L AA010231-
AA010274

209 Order, filed 03/04/2019 L AA010275-
AA010278

210 Order Denying in Part and Continuing in Part
Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Lift Stay, Hold
Defendants in Contempt, Strike Their
Answer, Grant Partial Summary Judgment,
Direct a Prove Up Hearing, and Coordinate
Cases, filed 03/05/2019

L AA010279-
AA010280

211 Order on Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration, filed 03/05/2019

L AA010281-
AA010284

212 Second Amended Notice of Appeal, filed
03/06/2019

L AA010285-
AA010288

213 Special Master Resolution Economics’
Opposition to Defendants Motion for
Reconsideration of Judgment and Order
Granting Resolution Economics Application
for Order of Payment of Special Master’s
Fees and Order of Contempt, filed
03/28/2019

LI AA010289-
AA010378

214 Notice of Entry of Order Denying
Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration of

LI AA010379-
AA010384



Judgment and Order Granting Resolution
Economics Application for Order of Payment
of Special Master’s Fees and Order of
Contempt, filed 08/09/2019

215 Transcript of Proceedings, September 26,
2018

LI AA010385-
AA010452

216 Transcript of Proceedings, September 28,
2018

LI, LII AA010453-
AA010519

217 Minute Order from May 23, 2018 Hearing LII AA10520

218 Minute Order from June 1, 2018 Hearing LII AA10521

Alphabetical Index

Doc
No.

Description Vol. Bates Nos.

179 Affidavit in Support of Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment of Special Master’s Fees and
Motion for Contempt, filed 11/05/2018

XLVII AA009579-
AA009604

199 Amended Notice of Appeal, filed 01/15/2019 XLIX AA009929-
AA009931

160 Claim from Exemption from Execution - A
Cab Series, LLC, Employee Leasing
Company Two, filed 10/04/2018

XLV AA009103-
AA009108

162 Claim from Exemption from Execution - A
Cab Series, LLC, Medallion Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009115-
AA009120

163 Claim from Exemption from Execution - A
Cab Series, LLC, Taxi Leasing Company,
filed 10/04/2018

XLV AA009121-
AA009126

164 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab,
LLC, filed 10/04/2018

XLV AA009127-
AA009132



158 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab
Series, LLC, Administration Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009091-
AA009096

159 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab
Series, LLC, CCards Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009097-
AA009102

161 Claim of Exemption from Execution - A Cab
Series, LLC, Maintenance Company, filed
10/04/2018

XLV AA009109-
AA009114

1 Complaint, filed 10/08/2012 I AA000001-
AA000008

6 Decision and Order, filed 02/11/2013 I AA000082-
AA000087

81 Decision and Order, filed 06/07/2017 XXI AA004189-
AA004204

76 Declaration of Charles Bass, filed
02/27/2017

XX AA003889-
AA003892

127 Declaration of Class Counsel, Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 04/26/2018

XXXIV AA006915-
AA006930

133 Declaration of Class Counsel, Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 05/30/2018

XXXV AA007232-
AA007249

138 Declaration of Class Counsel, Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 06/20/2018

XXXVII
,
XXXVII
I,
XXXIX,
XL

AA007457-
AA008228

91 Declaration of Plaintiffs’ Counsel Leon
Greenberg, Esq., filed 11/02/2017

XXII,
XXIII,
XXIV,
XXV

AA004339-
AA004888

12 Defendant A Cab, LLC’s Answer to II AA000232-



Complaint, filed 04/22/2013 AA000236

16 Defendant A Cab, LLC’s Answer to First
Amended Complaint, filed 05/23/2013

II AA000252-
AA000256

28 Defendant A Cab, LLC’s Answer to Second
Amended Complaint, filed 09/14/2015

IV AA000709-
AA000715

32 Defendant Creighton J. Nady’s Answer to
Second Amended Complaint, filed
10/06/2015

V AA000863-
AA000869

152 Defendant’s Ex-Parte Motion to Quash Writ
of Execution and, in the Alternative, Motion
for Partial Stay of Execution on Order
Shortening Time, filed 09/21/2018

XLIV AA008892-
AA008916

157 Defendant’s Exhibits in support of Ex-Parte
Motion to Quash Writ of Execution and, In
the Alternative, Motion for Partial Stay of
Execution on Order Shortening Time, filed
10/01/2018

XLIV,
XLV

AA009030-
AA009090

20 Defendant’s Motion for Declaratory Order
Regarding Statue of Limitations, filed
08/10/2015

III AA000470-
AA000570

7 Defendant’s Motion for Reconsideration,
filed 02/27/2013

I AA000088-
AA000180

29 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and for
Summary Judgment Against Plaintiff
Michael Murray, filed 09/21/2015

IV AA000716-
AA000759

30 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and for
Summary Judgment Against Plaintiff
Michael Reno, filed 09/21/2015

IV, V AA000760-
AA000806

2 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Complaint,
filed 11/15/2012

I AA000009-
AA000015

21 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
Second Claim for Relief, filed 08/10/2015

III AA000571-
AA000581



27 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
First Claim for Relief, filed 09/11/2015

IV AA000692-
AA000708

9 Defendant’s Motion to Strike Amended
Complaint, filed 03/25/2013

I AA000188-
AA000192

18 Defendant’s Opposition to Motion to Certify
Case as Class Action Pursuant to NRCP 23
and Appoint a Special Master Pursuant to
NRCP 53, filed 06/08/2015

III AA000399-
AA000446

186 Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Ex-
Parte Motion for a Temporary Restraining
Order and Motion on an Order [sic]
Requiring the Turnover of Certain Property
of the Judgment Debtor Pursuant to NRS
21.320, filed 11/30/2018

XLVII AA009675-
AA009689

191 Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Other Relief, Including Receiver, filed
12/12/2018

XLVIII AA009801-
AA009812

10 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion for
Reconsideration, filed 03/28/2013

I AA000193-
AA000201

13 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Strike Amended Complaint, filed 04/22/2013

II AA000237-
AA000248

4 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss Complaint, filed 01/10/2013

I AA000060-
AA000074

35 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss and for Summary Judgment Against
Plaintiff Michael Murray, filed 10/27/2015

V AA000912-
AA000919

36 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss and for Summary Judgment Against
Plaintiff Michael Reno, filed 10/27/2015

V AA000920-
AA000930

37 Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Claim for Relief,
filed 10/28/2015

V AA000931-
AA001001



26 Defendant’s Reply In Support of Motion for
Declaratory Order Regarding Statue of
Limitations, filed 09/08/2015

IV AA000687-
AA000691

25 Defendants Reply In Support of Motion to
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Second Claim for Relief,
filed 09/08/2015

IV AA000669-
AA000686

171 Defendants’ Motion for Dismissal of Claims
on Order Shortening Time, filed 10/17/2018

XLV AA009278-
AA009288

53 Defendants’ Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings Pursuant to NRCP 12(c) with
Respect to All Claims for Damages Outside
the Two-Year Statue of Limitations, filed
11/17/2016

VIII AA001587-
AA001591

54 Defendants’ Motion for Leave to Amend
Answer to Assert a Third-Party Complaint,
filed 11/29/2016

IX AA001592-
AA001621

62 Defendants’ Motion for Leave to Amend
Answer to Assert a Third-Party Complaint,
filed 01/27/2017

XVI AA003038-
AA003066

149 Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration,
Amendment, for New Trial, and for
Dismissal of Claims, filed 09/10/2018

XLIII AA008751-
AA008809

44 Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration,
filed 02/25/2016

VII AA001195-
AA001231

208 Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration of
Judgment and Order Granting Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment of Special Master’s Fees and Order
of Contempt, filed 02/25/2019

L AA010231-
AA010274

95 Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment,
filed 11/27/2017

XXVI AA005031-
AA005122

102 Defendants’ Motion in Limine to Exclude
Testimony of Plaintiffs’ Experts, filed

XXVIII AA005510-
AA005564



12/22/2017

202 Defendants’ Motion to Pay Special Master on
Order Shortening Time, filed 01/17/2019

L AA010104-
AA010114

140 Defendants’ Objection to Billing By Stricken
Special Master Michael Rosten, filed
06/27/2018

XLI AA008294-
AA008333

131 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’
Declarations; Motion on OST to Lift Stay,
Hold Defendants in Contempt, Strike Their
Answer, Grant Partial Summary Judgment,
Direct a Prove up Hearing, and Coordinate
Cases, filed 05/20/2018

XXXV AA007065-
AA007092

108 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’
Omnibus Motion in Limine #1-25, filed
01/12/2018

XXX AA005967-
AA006001

94 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment and Motion to
Place Evidentiary Burden on Defendants to
Establish “Lower Tier” Minimum Wage and
Declare NAC 608.102(2)(b) Invalid, filed
11/20/2017

XXV,
XXVI

AA004933-
AA005030

51 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Enjoin Defendants from Seeking
Settlement of any Unpaid Wage Claims
Involving any Class Members Except as Part
of this Lawsuit and for Other Relief, filed
11/04/2016

VIII AA001523-
AA001544

82 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
on Order Shortening Time to Extend
Damages Class Certification and for Other
Relief, filed 06/09/2017

XXII AA004205-
AA004222

96 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Bifurcation and/or to Limit Issues for
Trial Per NRCP 42(b), filed 11/27/2017

XXVI AA005123-
AA005165



64 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
02/02/2017

XVI AA003119-
AA003193

63 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Bifurcate Issue of Liability of Defendant
Creighton J. Nady from Liability of
Corporate Defendants or Alternative Relief,
filed 01/30/2017

XVI AA003067-
AA003118

89 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
to Impose Sanctions Against Defendants for
Violating this Court’s Order of March 9,
2017 and Compelling Compliance with that
Order, filed 07/31/2017

XXII AA004309-
AA004336

67 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
on OST to Expedite Issuance of Order
Granting Motion Filed on 10/14/16 to Enjoin
Defendants from Seeking Settlement of any
Unpaid Wage Claims Involving any Class
Members Except as Part of this Lawsuit and
for Other Relief and for Sanctions, filed
02/10/2017

XVIII,
XIX

AA003568-
AA003620

104 Defendants’ Reply in Support of Motion for
Summary Judgment, filed 12/27/2017

XXIV AA005711-
AA005719

134 Defendants’ Response to Plaintiffs’
Additional Declaration, filed 05/31/2018

XXXVI AA007250-
AA007354

106 Defendants’ Supplement as Ordered by the
Court on January 2, 2018, filed 01/09/2018

XXIV AA005783-
AA005832

118 Defendants’ Supplement Pertaining to an
Order to Appoint Special Master, filed
02/05/2018

XXXII AA006356-
AA006385

120 Defendants’ Supplement to Its Proposed
Candidates for Special Master, filed
02/07/2018

XXXII AA006392-
AA006424

145 Defendants’ Supplemental Authority in XLII AA008506-



Response to Plaintiffs’ Additional
Supplement Filed July 13, 2018, filed
07/18/2018

AA008575

142 Defendants’ Supplemental Authority in
Response to Declaration of June 20, 2018,
filed 07/10/2018

XLI AA008349-
AA008402

136 Defendants’ Supplemental List of Citations
Per Court Order, filed 06/04/2018

XXXVI AA007360-
AA007384

61 Errata to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment, filed 01/13/2017

XVI AA003030-
AA003037

5 First Amended Complaint, filed 01/30/2013 I AA000075-
AA000081

204 Judgment and Order Granting Resolution
Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment of Special Master’s Fees and Order
of Contempt, filed on 02/04/2019

L AA010201-
AA010207

135 Memorandum re: Legal Authorities on the
Court’s Power to Grant a Default Judgment
as a Contempt or Sanctions Response to
Defendants’ Failure to Pay the Special
Master, filed 06/04/2018

XXXVI AA007355-
AA007359

143 Michael Rosten’s Response to Defendants’
Objection to Billing by Stricken Special
Master Michael Rosten, filed 07/13/2018

XLI AA008403-
AA008415

14 Minute Order from April 29, 2013 Hearing II AA000249

99 Minute Order from December 7, 2017
Hearing

XXVII AA005370-
AA005371

113 Minute Order from January 25, 2018 Hearing XXXI AA006200-
AA006202

188 Minute Order from December 4, 2018
Hearing

XLVIII AA009697-
AA009700

205 Minute Order from February 5, 2019 Hearing L AA01208-



AA01209

218 Minute Order from June 1, 2018 Hearing LII AA10521

47 Minute Order from March 28, 2016 Hearing VIII AA001417

217 Minute Order from May 23, 2018 Hearing LII AA10520

39 Minute Order from November 9, 2015
Hearing

VI AA001171

93 Motion for Bifurcation and/or to Limit Issues
for Trial Per NRCP 42(b), filed 11/03/2017

XXV AA004911-
AA004932

92 Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and
Motion to Place Evidentiary Burden on
Defendants to Establish “Lower Tier”
Minimum Wage and Declare NAC
608.102(2)(b) Invalid, filed 11/02/2017

XXV AA004889-
AA004910

59 Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
01/11/2017

XII,
XIII,
XIV,
XV

AA002190-
AA002927

80 Motion on Order Shortening Time to Extend
Damages Class Certification and for Other
Relief, filed 06/02/2017

XXI AA004143-
AA004188

148 Motion to Amend Judgment, filed
08/22/2018

XLIII AA008742-
AA008750

200 Motion to Amend the Court’s Order Entered
on December 18, 2018, filed 01/15/2019

XLIX AA009932-
AA009996

60 Motion to Bifurcate Issue of Liability of
Defendant Creighton J. Nady from Liability
of Corporate Defendants or Alternative
Relief, filed 01/12/2017

XV,
XVI

AA002928-
AA003029

17 Motion to Certify this Case as a Class Action
Pursuant to NRCP Rule 23 and Appoint a
Special Master Pursuant to NRCP Rule 53,
filed 05/19/2015

II AA000257-
AA000398



201 Motion to Distribute Funds Held by Class
Counsel, filed 01/5/2019

XLIX, L AA009997-
AA010103

50 Motion to Enjoin Defendants from Seeking
Settlement of Any Unpaid Wage Claims
Involving Any Class Members Except as Part
of this Lawsuit and for Other Relief, filed
10/14/2016

VIII AA001436-
AA001522

123 NC Supreme Court Judgment, filed
05/07/2018

XXXIII AA006458-
AA006463

153 Notice of Appeal, filed 09/21/2018 XLIV AA008917-
AA008918

214 Notice of Entry of Order Denying
Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration of
Judgment and Order Granting Resolution
Economics Application for Order of Payment
of Special Master’s Fees and Order of
Contempt, filed 08/09/2019

LI AA010379-
AA010384

193 Notice of Entry of Order Denying Motion to
Quash, filed 12/18/2018

XLVIII AA009865-
AA009887

173 Notice of Entry of Order, filed 10/22/2018 XLVI AA009298-
AA009301

147 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Judgment,
filed 08/22/2018

XLIII AA008676-
AA008741

197 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Motion for
Judgment Enforcement, filed 01/02/2019

XLIX AA009919-
AA009926

194 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Objections
to Claims from Exemption of Execution,
filed 12/18/2018

XLVIII AA009888-
AA009891

207 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Plaintiffs’
Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs, filed
02/07/2019

L AA010220-
AA010230

206 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Resolution L AA010210-



Economics’ Application for Order of
Payment and Contempt, filed 02/05/2019

AA010219

57 Notice of Withdrawal of Defendants’ Motion
for Leave to Amend Answer to Assert a
Third-Party Complaint, filed 12/16/2016

XI AA002177-
AA002178

141 Opposition to Additional Relief Requested in
Plaintiffs’ Supplement, filed 07/10/2018

XLI AA008334-
AA008348

55 Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings, Counter Motion
for Toll of Statue of Limitations and for an
Evidentiary Hearing, filed 12/08/2016

IX AA001622-
AA001661

56 Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Leave
to Amend Answer to Assert Third-Party
Complaint and Counter-Motion for Sanctions
and Attorney’s Fees, filed 12/16/2016

IX, X,
XI

AA001662-
AA002176

69 Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Leave
to Amend Answer to Assert Third-Party
Complaint and Counter-Motion for Sanctions
and Attorneys’ Fees, filed 02/13/2017

XIX AA003625-
AA003754

168 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Counter-Motion for
Appropriate Judgment Relief, filed
10/15/2018

XLV AA009257-
AA009263

177 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for an
Award of Attorneys Fees and Costs Per
NRCP Rule 54 and the Nevada Constitution,
filed 11/01/2018

XLVI,
XLVII

AA009414-
AA009552

150 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Amend
Judgment, filed 09/10/2018

XLIII AA008810-
AA008834

181 Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to File a
Supplement in Support of an Award of
Attorneys Fees and Costs Per NRCP Rule 54
and the Nevada Constitution, filed
11/16/2018

XLVII AA009614-
AA009626



183 Opposition to Resolution Economics’
Application for Order of Payment of Special
Master’s Fees and Motion for Contempt,
filed 11/26/2018

XLVII AA009647-
AA009664

42 Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to
Dismiss and For Summary Judgment Against
Michael Murray, filed 02/18/2016

VI AA001191-
AA001192

43 Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to
Dismiss and for Summary Judgment Against
Michael Reno, filed 02/18/2016

VI AA001193-
AA001194

198 Order Denying Defendants’ Counter-Motion
to Stay Proceedings and Collection Actions,
filed 01/08/2019

XLIX AA009927-
AA009928

210 Order Denying in Part and Continuing in Part
Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Lift Stay, Hold
Defendants in Contempt, Strike Their
Answer, Grant Partial Summary Judgment,
Direct a Prove Up Hearing, and Coordinate
Cases, filed 03/05/2019

L AA010279-
AA010280

90 Order Denying Plaintiff’s Counter-Motion
for Sanctions and Attorneys’ Fees and Order
Denying Plaintiffs’ Anti-SLAPP Motion,
filed 07/31/2017

XXII AA004337-
AA004338

116 Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for
Bifurcation and/or to Limit Issues for Trial
Per NRCP 42(b), filed 02/02/2018

XXXII AA006332-
AA006334

85 Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment, filed 07/14/2017

XXII AA004299-
AA004302

48 Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion to Impose
Sanctions Against Defendants for Violating
This Court’s Order of February 10, 2016 and
Compelling Compliance with that Order on
an Order Shortening Time, filed 04/06/2016

VIII AA001418-
AA001419



15 Order, filed 05/02/2013 II AA000250-
AA000251

86 Order, filed 07/17/2017 XXII AA004303-
AA004304

87 Order, filed 07/17/2017 XXII AA004305-
AA004306

88 Order, filed 07/17/2017 XXII AA004307-
AA004308

112 Order, filed 01/22/2018 XXXI AA006196-
AA006199

174 Order, filed 10/22/2018 XLVI AA009302-
AA009303

209 Order, filed 03/04/2019 L AA010275-
AA010278

71 Order Granting Certain Relief on Motion to
Enjoin Defendants From Seeking Settlement
of Any Unpaid Wage Claims Involving Any
Class Members Except as Part of this
Lawsuit and for Other Relief, filed
02/16/2017

XIX AA003775-
AA003776

40 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part
Defendant’s Motion for Declaratory Order
Regarding Statue of Limitations, filed
12/21/2015

VI AA001172-
AA001174

73 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part
Plaintiffs’ Motion to Have Case Reassigned
to Dept I per EDCR Rule 1.60 and
Designation as Complex Litigation per
NRCP Rule 16.1(f), filed on 02/21/2017

XIX AA003781-
AA003782

119 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Appoint
a Special Master, filed 02/07/2018

XXXII AA006386-
AA006391

41 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify VI AA001175-



Class Action Pursuant to NRCP Rule
23(b)(2) and NRCP Rule 23(b)(3) and
Denying Without Prejudice Plaintiffs’
Motion to Appoint a Special Master Under
NRCP Rule 53, filed 02/10/2016

AA001190

49 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify
Class Action Pursuant to NRCP Rule
23(b)(2) and NRCP Rule 23(b)(3) and
Denying Without Prejudice Plaintiffs’
Motion to Appoint a Special Master Under
NRCP Rule 52 as Amended by this Court in
Response to Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration heard in Chambers on
March 28, 2016, filed 06/07/2016

VIII AA001420-
AA001435

121 Order Modifying Court’s Previous Order of
February 7, 2019 Appointing a Special
Master, filed 02/13/2018

XXXII AA006425-
AA006426

211 Order on Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration, filed 03/05/2019

L AA010281-
AA010284

196 Order on Motion for Dismissal of Claims on
Order Shortening Time, filed 12/20/2018

XLIX AA009916-
AA009918

124 Pages intentionally omitted XXXIII AA006464-
AA006680

126 Plaintiff Jasminka Dubric’s Opposition to
Michael Murray and Michael Reno’s Motion
for Miscellaneous Relief, filed 04/23/2018

XXXIV AA006898-
AA006914

139 Plaintiffs Supplement in Support of Entry of
Final Judgment Per Hearing Held June 5,
2018, filed 06/22/2018

XL, XLI AA008229-
AA008293

182 Plaintiffs’ Ex Parte Motion for Temporary
Restraining Order and Motion on an Order
Requiring the Turnover of Certain Property
of the Judgment Debtor Pursuant to NRS
21.320, filed 11/26/2018

XLVII AA009627-
AA009646



166 Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Award of Attorneys
Fees and Costs as Per NRCP Rule 54 and the
Nevada Constitution, filed 10/12/2018

XLV AA009143-
AA009167

165 Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Order Granting a
Judgment Debtor Examination and for Other
Relief, filed 10/05/2018

XLV AA009133-
AA009142

65 Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Expedite
Issuance of Order Granting Motion Filed on
10/14/2016 to Enjoin Defendants from
Seeking Settlement of Any Unpaid Wage
Claims Involving any Class Members Except
as Part of this Lawsuit and for Other Relief
and for Sanctions, filed 02/03/2017

XVII,
XVIII

AA003194-
AA003548

125 Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Lift Stay, Hold
Defendants in Contempt, Strike Their
Answer, Grant Partial Summary Judgment,
Direct a Prove Up Hearing, and Coordinate
Cases, filed 04/17/2018

XXXIII,
XXXIV

AA006681-
AA006897

176 Plaintiffs’ Motion to File a Supplement in
Support of an Award of Attorneys Fees and
Costs as Per NRCP Rule 54 and the Nevada
Constitution, filed 10/29/2018

XLVI AA009401-
AA009413

84 Plaintiffs’ Motion to Impose Sanctions
Against Defendants for Violating this
Court’s Order of March 9, 2017 and
Compelling Compliance with that Order,
filed 07/12/2017

XXII AA004245-
AA004298

167 Plaintiffs’ Objections to Claims from
Exemption from Execution and Notice of
Hearing, filed 10/15/2018

XLV AA009168-
AA009256

195 Plaintiffs’ Objections to Claims of
Exemption from Execution and Notice of
Hearing, filed 12/19/2018

XLIX AA009892-
AA009915

103 Plaintiffs’ Omnibus Motion in Limine # 1- XXVIII, AA005565-



25, filed 12/22/2017 XXIV AA005710

132 Plaintiffs’ Reply to A Cab and Nady’s
Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for
Miscellaneous Relief, filed 05/21/2018

XXXV AA007093-
AA007231

97 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendant’s Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motions for Partial Summary
Judgment and to Place Evidentiary Burden
on Defendants to Establish “Lower Tier”
Minimum Wage and Declare NAC
608.102(2)(b) Invalid, filed 11/29/2017

XXVI,
XXVII

AA005166-
AA005276

98 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Bifurcation and/or to
Limit Issues for Trial Per NRCP 42(b), filed
12/01/2017

XXVII AA005277-
AA005369

52 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Enjoin Defendants
From Seeking Settlement of any Unpaid
Wage Claims Involving any Class Members
Except as Part of this Lawsuit and for Other
Relief, filed 11/10/2016

VIII AA001545-
AA001586

74 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment, filed 02/22/2017

XIX,
XX

AA003783-
AA003846

110 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion in Limine #1-#25, filed
01/17/2018

XXXI AA006118-
AA006179

151 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Amend Judgment,
filed 09/20/2018

XLIII,
XLIV

AA008835-
AA008891

19 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certify this Case as a
Class Action Pursuant to NRCP Rule 23 and
Appoint a Special Master Pursuant to NRCP
Rile 53, filed 07/13/2018

III AA000447-
AA000469



180 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion for an Award of
Attorneys Fees and Costs as Per NRCP Rule
54 and the Nevada Constitution, filed
11/08/2018

XLVII AA009605-
AA009613

185 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion to File a Supplement in
Support of an Award of Attorneys Fees and
Costs as Per NRCP Rule 54 and the Nevada
Constitution, filed 11/28/2018

XLVII AA009668-
AA009674

169 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Response to
Plaintiffs’ Counter-Motion for Appropriate
Judgment Enforcement Relief, filed
10/16/2018

XLV AA009264-
AA009271

68 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’s Opposition
to Plaintiffs’ Motion on OST to Expedite
Issuance of Order Granting Motion Filed on
10/14/2016 to Enjoin Defendants From
Seeking Settlement of Any Unpaid Wage
Claims Involving Any Class Members
Except as Part of This Lawsuit and For Other
Relief and for Sanctions, filed 02/10/2017

XIX AA003621-
AA003624

128 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Jasminka Dubric’s
Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for
Miscellaneous Relief, filed 04/26/2018

XXXIV AA006931-
AA006980

45 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion Seeking
Reconsideration of the Court’s Order
Granting Class Certification, filed
03/14/2016

VII AA001232-
AA001236

203 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Pay Special Master on
an Order Shortening Time and Counter-
Motion for an Order to Turn Over Property,
filed 01/30/2019

L AA010115-
AA010200



155 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration,
Amendment, for New Trial and for Dismissal
of Claims, filed 09/27/2018

XLIV AA008995-
AA009008

11 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Strike First Amended
Complaint and Counter-Motion for a Default
Judgment or Sanctions Pursuant to EDCR
7.60(b), filed 04/11/2013

II AA000202-
AA000231

24 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’
Second Claim for Relief, filed 08/28/2015

IV AA000651-
AA000668

23 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion for Declaratory Order
Regarding Statue of Limitations, filed
08/28/2015

IV AA000600-
AA000650

172 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion for Dismissal of Claims
on an Order Shortening Time, filed
10/17/2018

XLVI AA009289-
AA009297

8 Plaintiffs’ Response in Opposition to
Defendants’ Motion Seeking
Reconsideration of the Court’s February 8,
2013 Order Denying Defendants’ Motion to
Dismiss, filed 03/18/2013

I AA000181-
AA000187

154 Plaintiffs’ Response to Defendants’ Ex-Parte
Motion to Quash Writ of Execution on an
OST and Counter-Motion for Appropriate
Judgment Enforcement Relief, filed
09/24/2018

XLIV AA008919-
AA008994

109 Plaintiffs’ Response to Defendants’ Motion
in Limine to Exclude Expert Testimony, filed
01/12/2018

XXX,
XXXI

AA006002-
AA006117

184 Plaintiffs’ Response to Special Master’s XLVII AA009665-



Motion for an Order for Payment of Fees and
Contempt, filed 11/26/2018

AA009667

115 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Connection with
Appointment of Special Master, filed
01/31/2018

XXXII AA006239-
AA006331

144 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Reply and In
Support of Entry of Final Judgment Per
Hearing Held June 5, 2018, filed 07/13/2018

XLI,
XLII

AA008416-
AA008505

146 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Reply to
Defendants’ Supplement Dated July 18,
2018, filed 08/03/2018

XLII AA008576-
AA008675

107 Plaintiffs’ Supplement in Support of Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
01/09/2018

XXX AA005833-
AA005966

75 Plaintiffs’ Supplement to Plaintiffs’ Reply to
Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed
02/23/2017

XX AA003847-
AA003888

156 Plaintiffs’ Supplemental Response to
Defendants’ Ex-Parte Motion to Quash Writ
of Execution on an OSt, filed 09/27/2018

XLIV AA009009-
AA009029

46 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration, filed 03/24/2016

VII, VIII AA001237-
AA001416

170 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion for
Reconsideration, Amendment, for New Trial,
and for Dismissal of Claims, filed
10/16/2018

XLV AA009272-
AA009277

58 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings Pursuant to
NRCP 12(c) with Respect to All Claims for
Damages Outside the Two-Year Statue of
Limitation and Opposition to Counter
Motion for Toll of Statue of Limitations and
for an Evidentiary Hearing, filed 12/28/2016

XI AA002179-
AA002189



111 Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion in
Limine to Exclude the Testimony of
Plaintiffs’ Experts, filed 01/19/2018

XXXI AA006180-
AA001695

178 Resolution Economics’ Application for
Order of Payment of Special Master’s Fees
and Motion for Contempt, filed 11/05/2018

XLVII AA009553-
AA009578

187 Resolution Economics’ Reply to Defendants’
Opposition and Plaintiffs’ Response to its
Application for an Order of Payment of
Special Master’s Fees and Motion for
Contempt, filed 12/03/2018

XLVII AA009690-
AA009696

100 Response in Opposition to Defendant’s
Motion for Summary Judgment, filed
12/14/2017

XXVII,
XXVIII

AA005372-
AA005450

31 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Claim for
Relief, filed 09/28/2015

V AA000807-
AA000862

3 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss, filed 12/06/2012

I AA000016-
AA000059

33 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss and for Summary
Judgment Against Plaintiff Michael Murray,
filed 10/08/2015

V AA000870-
AA000880

34 Response in Opposition to Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss and for Summary
Judgment Against Plaintiff Michael Reno,
filed 10/08/2015

V AA000881-
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212 Second Amended Notice of Appeal, filed
03/06/2019

L AA010285-
AA010288

22 Second Amended Supplemental Complaint,
filed 08/19/2015

III AA000582-
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130 Second Supplemental Declaration of Class
Counsel, Leon Greenberg, Esq., filed

XXXIV AA007015-
AA007064



05/18/2018

213 Special Master Resolution Economics’
Opposition to Defendants Motion for
Reconsideration of Judgment and Order
Granting Resolution Economics Application
for Order of Payment of Special Master’s
Fees and Order of Contempt, filed
03/28/2019

LI AA010289-
AA010378

78 Supplement to Defendants’ Opposition to
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment, filed 05/24/2017

XXI AA004024-
AA004048

79 Supplement to Defendants’ Opposition to
Plaintiffs’ Motion to Bifurcate Issue of
Liability of Defendant Creighton J. Nady
From Liability of Corporate Defendants or
Alternative Relief, filed 05/31/2017

XXI AA004049-
AA004142

72 Supplement to Order For Injunction Filed on
February 16, 2017, filed 02/17/2017

XIX AA003777-
AA003780
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XXXIV AA006981-
AA007014
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66 Transcript of Proceedings, February 8, 2017 XVII AA003549-
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70 Transcript of Proceedings, February 14, 2017 XIX AA003755-
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77 Transcript of Proceedings, May 18, 2017 XX,
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101 Transcript of Proceedings, December 14,
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105 Transcript of Proceedings, January 2, 2018 XXIV AA005720-
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117 Transcript of Proceedings, February 2, 2018 XXXII AA006335-
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122 Transcript of Proceedings, February 15, 2018 XXXII,
XXXIII
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137 Transcript of Proceedings, filed July 12,
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XXXVI,
XXXVII

AA007385-
AA007456

215 Transcript of Proceedings, September 26,
2018

LI AA010385-
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216 Transcript of Proceedings, September 28,
2018

LI, LII AA010453-
AA010519
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189 Transcript of Proceedings, December 4, 2018 XLVIII AA009701-
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· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·DISTRICT COURT

· · · · · · · · · · · · CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

· 

· 

· · MICHAEL MURRAY, and MICHAEL RENO,· ) Case No.: A-12-669926-C

· · Individually and on behalf of· · · ) Dept. No.: I

· · Others similarly situated,· · · · ·)

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·)

· · · · ·Plaintiff,· · · · · · · · · · )

· · vs· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·)

· · A CAB TAXI SERVICE LL, A CAB, LLC· )

· · And CREIGHTON J. NADY,· · · · · · ·)

· · · · · · · Defendants.· · · · · · · )

· · ___________________________________)

· 

· 

· 

· · ·RECORDED DEPOSITION OF PMK A CAB TAXI SERVICE LLC & A CAB,

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·LLC

· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·CREIGHTON NADY

· · · · · · · · · · ·Taken on November 22, 2016

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · At 9:41 a.m.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·Evolve Downtown

· · · · · · · · · ·400 South 4th Street, Suite 300

· · · · · · · · · · · ·Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
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·1· APPEARANCES:

·2· For the Plaintiffs: LEON GREENBERG, ESQ.

·3· · · · · · · · · · · DANA SNIEGOCKI

·4· · · · · · · · · · · LEON GREENBERG PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

·5· · · · · · · · · · · 2965 South Jones Blvd, Suite E3

·6· · · · · · · · · · · Las Vegas, Nevada 89146

·7

·8

·9

10· For the Defendants: ESTHER RODRIGUEZ, ESQ.

11· · · · · · · · · · · RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, PC

12· · · · · · · · · · · 10161 Park run Drive, Suite 150

13· · · · · · · · · · · Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

14

15· · · · · · · · · · · MICHAEL WALL, ESQ.

16· · · · · · · · · · · HUTCHISON & STEFFEN

17· · · · · · · · · · · 10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200

18· · · · · · · · · · · Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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Page 44
·1· · · · · · · · ·Q:· Well, I don’t need you to guess,

·2· sir.· And I…

·3· · · · · · · · ·A:· That would be a guess if I answered

·4· that. So I shan’t.

·5· · · · · · · · ·Q:· I don’t want to have you do that,

·6· sir.· I just want to be clear, Mr. Nady, because

·7· we’ve been talking about this estimate to the amount

·8· of time on average drivers drive each day that they

·9· are working, and you gave me what you called an

10· estimate.· I’ve also heard the term 'guess' used in

11· our discussion of that subject.· Do you really have

12· an estimate you can give me, or do you think you

13· would just be guessing to give me an average amount

14· of time per shift that taxi drivers are working?

15· · · · · · · · ·A:· It would be a guess.

16· · · · · · · · ·Q:· Do you know if A Cab ever undertook

17· to conduct any study to determine what the average

18· amount of time was that drivers work per shift?

19· · · · · · · · ·A:· I think the DOL forced us to do

20· something like that.

21· · · · · · · · ·Q:· Do you remember what result was

22· obtained from that study?

23· · · · · · · · ·A:· It, too, would be a guess, but my

24· best recollection was about eight-and-a-quarter

25· hours.
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·1· · · · · · · · ·CERTIFICATE OF RECORDER

·2· STATE OF NEVADA· ·)

·3· COUNTY OF CLARK· ·)

·4· NAME OF CASE:· · MICHAEL MURRAY vs A CAB TAXI SERVICE LL

·5· · · I, Shaynelle McCalister, a duly commissioned

·6· Notary Public, Clark County, State of Nevada, do hereby

·7· certify:· That I recorded the taking of the

·8· deposition of the witness,· Creighton Nady,

·9· commencing on 11/22/2016.

10· That prior to being examined the witness was

11· duly sworn to testify to the truth.

12· · · I further certify that I am not a relative or

13· employee of an attorney or counsel of any of the

14· parties, nor a relative or employee of an attorney or

15· counsel involved in said action, nor a person

16· financially interested in the action.

17· IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my

18· hand in my office in the County of Clark, State of

19· Nevada, this 11/22/2016.

20

21· _________________________________

22· Shaynelle McCalister Notary

23

24

25
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LEON GREENBERG, ESQ., SBN 8094
DANA SNIEGOCKI, ESQ., SBN 11715
Leon Greenberg Professional Corporation
2965 South Jones Blvd- Suite E3
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
(702) 383-6085
(702) 385-1827(fax)
leongreenberg@overtimelaw.com
dana@overtimelaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

MICHAEL MURRAY, and MICHAEL
RENO, Individually and on behalf of
others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

A CAB TAXI SERVICE LLC, A CAB,
LLC, and CREIGHTON J. NADY,

Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No.: A-12-669926-C

Dept.: I

DECLARATION OF
PLAINTIFFS’ COUNSEL,
DANA SNIEGOCKI

Dana Sniegocki, an attorney duly licensed to practice before this Court, hereby

affirms, under penalty of perjury, the following:

1.  I am one of the attorneys representing the plaintiffs in the above-entitled

action and have been appointed class counsel.  

2. On October 20, 2015, I dispatched a request under the Freedom of

Information Act (“FOIA”) to the United States Department of Labor (“DOL”).  The

request sought, in part, copies of narrative reports and associated exhibits of all wage

and hour investigations of A Cab Taxi Service LLC and A Cab LLC from July 1, 2007

through September 30, 2015.  That request was later amended to seek only those

investigations of A Cab covering the year 2012.  

3.  On February 17, 2016, I received a response to my FOIA request along with

responsive documents.  Attached as Ex. “1" is the response letter I received from the

DOL.   

AA005679
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2

4.  Page 2 of Ex. “1" indicates that 454 pages were being contemporaneously

produced to my office.  Those documents were produced on a CD.  

5.  Those 454 pages were produced to the defendants in this litigation Bates

numbers DOL 1-454 as part of Plaintiffs’ Fourth Supplemental Disclosures Under

Nev. R. Civ. P. 16.1 on February 22, 2017.   In addition, three additional pages of

documents, DOL 455-457, the 2009 DOL narrative report, earlier obtained by my

office from the DOL, were provided with that prodution.

6.  As part of that 454 page document production by the DOL, plaintiffs

received the documents that have been bates labeled DOL-40 through DOL-52 and

produced in Plaintiffs’ Fourth Supplemental Disclosures Under Nev. R. Civ. P. 16.1

on February 22, 2017.  That sequence of documents is discussed in the motion

accompanying this declaration at Limine Item Number 23.   

Affirmed this 21  day of December, 2017.st

 /s/ Dana Sniegocki             
Dana Sniegocki, Esq.
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· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·DISTRICT COURT

· · · · · · · · · · · · CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

· 

· · MICHAEL MURRAY, and MICHAEL· ·) Case No.: A-12-669926-C

· · RENO, Individually and on· · ·) Dept. No.: I

· · behalf of others similarly· · )

· · situated,· · · · · · · · · · ·)

· · · · ·Plaintiffs,· · · · · · · )

· · vs.· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·)

· · A CAB TAXI SERVICE LLC, and A )

· · CAB, LLC,· · · · · · · · · · ·)

· · · · · · · Defendants.· · · · ·)

· · ______________________________)

· 

· · · · · · ·RECORDED DEPOSITION OF ROBERT SCOTT LESLIE

· · · · · · · · · · · Taken on October 10, 2017

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · At 1:16 p.m.

· · · · · · · · · · · · ·GABROY LAW OFFICES

· · · · · · · 170 South Green Valley Parkway Suite 280,

· · · · · · · · · · · ·Henderson, Nevada 89012

· 

· 

· 

· 

· 
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·1· APPEARANCES:

·2· For the Plaintiffs: LEON GREENBERG, ESQ.

·3· · · · · · · · · · · LEON GREENBERG PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

·4· · · · · · · · · · · 2965 South Jones Blvd, Suite E3

·5· · · · · · · · · · · Las Vegas, Nevada 89146

·6

·7· · · · · · · · · · · CHRISTIAN GABROY, ESQ.

·8· · · · · · · · · · · LIZA ARONSON, LAW CLERK

·9· · · · · · · · · · · GABROY LAW OFFICES

10· · · · · · · · · · · 170 South Green Valley Parkway

11· · · · · · · · · · · Suite 280

12· · · · · · · · · · · Henderson, Nevada 89012

13

14· For the Defendants: ESTHER RODRIGUEZ, ESQ.

15· · · · · · · · · · · RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P.C.

16· · · · · · · · · · · 10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150

17· · · · · · · · · · · Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

18

19· Owner of A Cab:· · ·Creighton J. Nady

20
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · INDEX

·2· Witness· · · · · · · · · · · ·Direct· · · · · · · ·Cross

·3· MR. LESLIE· · · · · · · · · · PAGE 7

·4· (BY MR. GREENBERG)

·5
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·7

·8

·9· · · · · · · · · · · · · · EXHIBITS

10· Number· · · · · · · Description

11· Exhibit 1· · · · · ·Report

12· Exhibit 2· · · · · ·Report

13· Exhibit 3· · · · · ·Spreadsheet

14· Exhibit 4· · · · · ·Trip Sheets

15· Exhibit 5· · · · · ·Excel File

16· Exhibit 6· · · · · ·Estimate of Wage and Hour Settlement

17· Exhibit 7· · · · · ·Trip Sheets
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Page 19
·1· · · · · · A:· Generally, yes.

·2· · · · · · Q:· I`d like you to turn to page 13 in the

·3· report I gave you.· I would draw your attention to

·4· the last sentence of the last paragraph.

·5· · · · · · A:· Okay.

·6· · · · · · Q:· In that paragraph and sentence, I

·7· believe you are discussing what you called the

·8· calculation report which is the A Cab OLE Excel file

·9· that Dr. Cloretti refers to in his report.· Is that

10· true?

11· · · · · · A:· Yes.

12· · · · · · Q:· Okay.· In that last sentence you state,

13· ``Otherwise, as shown above, in determining minimum

14· wage rates, the analysis though impressive is

15· meaningless.``· Why do you describe the analysis of

16· Dr. Cloretti`s report as impressive?

17· · · · · · A:· The spreadsheet. I do a lot of Excel

18· spreadsheet work.· The spreadsheet with all its

19· sorting and different functions and stuff that is

20· used are impressive to me.· Dr. Cloretti`s review of

21· the math I think is good.· So I think it`s

22· impressive... in that sense, it`s an impressive

23· report.

24· · · · · · Q:· So, correct me if I`m wrong but you`re

25· saying it`s impressive because of it was performing

AA005690
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Page 20
·1· correct calculations.· By correct, I mean

·2· arithmetically correct, internally correct

·3· calculations in that spreadsheet on a large amount of

·4· information.

·5· · · · · · A:· It seems like--

·6· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Objection.

·7· · · · · · A:· Okay.

·8· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Misstates prior testimony.

·9· · · · · · Q:· Please answer the question.

10· · · · · · A:· I am saying that it seems to calculate,

11· as you say, within itself everything.· The math seems

12· to be right.

13· · · · · · Q:· So, you would agree that the arithmetic

14· that`s performed in that A Cab OLE Excel file in

15· respect to the performance of the calculations in the

16· file is free from error?

17· · · · · · A:· As far as I could tell, if I`m

18· understanding your question.

19· · · · · · Q:· But you find, and correct me if I`m

20· wrong, that even though the A Cab OLE file is

21· performing correct calculations, it is relying on

22· wrong assumptions.· Is that correct?

23· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Objection.· Lacks

24· foundation.

25· · · · · · A:· Okay.· I think there are two things.  I
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·1· spreadsheets, just summarized differently.

·2· · · · · · Q:· Now, I asked you a little while ago if

·3· the A Cab OLE Excel file properly calculates the

·4· amount of minimum wages owed at 7.25 an hour at all

·5· times using the assumptions in the sheet itself

·6· regarding the hours worked and I believe your answer,

·7· please correct me if I`m wrong, was that it does.· Is

·8· that true?

·9· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Objection.· Misstates prior

10· testimony.

11· · · · · · A:· Restate.· Could you please restate the

12· question?

13· · · · · · Q:· My question was using the hours that it

14· assumes the drivers worked, I`m not saying whether

15· those hours are accurate.· I`m just saying the A Cab

16· OLE Excel file has certain information in it or makes

17· certain assumptions which actually can be changed

18· about the hours employees worked each shift through

19· each pay period.· Do you understand that?

20· · · · · · A:· Yes.

21· · · · · · Q:· Does the A Cab OLE Excel file accurately

22· calculate the minimum wages owed at 7.25 an hour of

23· every pay period using whatever assumed hours are put

24· into the spreadsheet or already in the spreadsheet?

25· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Objection.· Asked and
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·1· answered.· I believe that`s the third time the

·2· question was asked.

·3· · · · · · A:· I would again say that using the

·4· assumptions of the spreadsheet, it looks like it puts

·5· out the number correctly meaning it can take the

·6· hours times the rate and come to a number, but the

·7· hours are always the standard numbers based on shift.

·8· It`s not what the actual hours worked are.

·9· · · · · · Q:· Right.· Okay.· Now, would you give that

10· same answer for how it calculates minimum wages using

11· a constant 8.25 an hour rate using those assumptions?

12· · · · · · A:· Yes.· You plug in any rate you want. I

13· mean if you`re going to assume there`s a number of

14· hours for each shift or each payroll period times

15· whatever the rate is, 8.25, 15.25, whatever you want

16· to use, you`ll multiply it through.

17· · · · · · Q:· Okay.· Well, but you understand the way

18· the A Cab OLE Excel spreadsheet is set up is that it

19· uses two rates, an 8.25 or 7.25 rate, and in addition

20· to performing a conditional analysis, which you

21· discussed before for example regarding the 10%

22· insurance rule, it also has one analysis where it

23· applies that 7.25 rating every pay period, to every

24· worker, and it has a separate analysis where it

25· applies the 8.25 rating to every worker for every pay
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·1· period.· Do you understand that?

·2· · · · · · A:· Yes, I think the 8.25 period is like the

·3· second of the analysis columns.

·4· · · · · · Q:· Right.· Okay.· My question is just does

·5· that 8.25 column, using the assumptions in the A Cab

·6· OLE file, perform proper math in terms of reaching

·7· its results based on those assumptions?

·8· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Objection.· Asked and

·9· answered, the fourth time.

10· · · · · · A:· It looks to me like the math works given

11· the assumptions in the model.

12· · · · · · Q:· Are you aware that the A Cab OLE file

13· has a portion of it which calculates minimum wages

14· based upon hours that are recorded independents

15· payroll records for the period 2013 to 2015?

16· · · · · · A:· Yes.

17· · · · · · Q:· Okay.· Does A Cab properly calculate the

18· minimum wages that would be owed at the 7.25 and the

19· 8.25 rates using those hours in the payroll records?

20· · · · · · A:· It calculates something that`s probably

21· within tolerance, yes.

22· · · · · · Q:· Do you have any reason to believe that

23· those calculations are not correct?

24· · · · · · A:· When I did the calculations on this, I

25· tried to use what Nevada Revised Statute said for
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·1· breaks, which changes it a little bit.· It`s not

·2· material but they will give you like up to 30 minutes

·3· of break or 20 min— to 30 minutes of breaks that they

·4· pay for and you`re only required to give them, given

·5· the employees worked 11 hours 20 minutes of breaks.

·6· So, in that respect, that`s why I said it`s within

·7· tolerance.· It is actually more generous to

·8· employees.

·9· · · · · · Q:· What is more generous to employees?

10· · · · · · A:· If you take less than 30 minutes, they

11· pay you for the entire half hour instead of 10-minute

12· paid breaks, so.

13· · · · · · Q:· My question was you understand that the

14· payroll records from A Cab for the period of 2013

15· through 2015, for every pay period, have a stated

16· amount of hours worked for the pay period by the

17· employee?

18· · · · · · A:· Yes.

19· · · · · · Q:· So, my question was when the A Cab OLE

20· spreadsheet accepts those hours and uses those hours

21· recorded in the payroll records to calculate minimum

22· wages owed either at a constant 7.25 rate or the

23· constant 8.25 rate, using again those hours from the

24· payroll records, does it do so correctly?

25· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Objection.· Leon, you`re
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·1· · · · · · Q:· Okay.· Now, if the hours were to be

·2· different then the numbers, the calculations,

·3· resulting calculations would be different, correct?

·4· · · · · · A:· Yes.

·5· · · · · · Q:· Okay.· But I`m not asking about if the

·6· hours were different.· I`m just simply asking if we

·7· use the hours that are in the payroll records and

·8· they are calculated as the A Cab OLE spreadsheet

·9· calculates them, does the A Cab OLE spreadsheet,

10· using those hours from the payroll records, properly

11· calculate the minimum wages at a constant 7.25 and

12· 8.25 in those two columns we discussed?

13· · · · · · A:· For that—

14· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Same objections.· Asked and

15· answered.

16· · · · · · A:· Yes.

17· · · · · · Q:· Thank you.

18· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· I assume you`ve numbered the

19· first one as Plaintiff`s 1, right?

20· · · · · · Q:· The witness has it.· Yes.

21· · · · · · A:· Yeah.

22· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Okay.· Well, you didn`t say

23· it on the record.

24· · · · · · Q:· Oh, okay.

25· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· So, I just wanted to make
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·1· sure and we`re going to name this one Plaintiff`s 2.

·2· · · · · · Q:· Yes.

·3· · · · · · MR. MAREZ: There you go sir.

·4· · · · · · A:· Thank you.

·5· · · · · · Q:· The plaintiff`s Exhibit 2 is the report

·6· of Dr. Cloretti.· This document I trust is familiar

·7· to you, sir?

·8· · · · · · A:· It is.

·9· · · · · · Q:· Okay.· I`d ask you to take a look at

10· pages 25 and on page 25, the second full sentence

11· which begins, ``As discussed supra...``· Do you see

12· that, sir?

13· · · · · · A:· Yes.

14· · · · · · Q:· Please read that to yourself and let me

15· know when you`re done reading it.

16· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· I`m sorry, Mr. Greenberg.

17· Could you repeat what you`re asking him to look at?

18· · · · · · Q:· Second full sentence in the first

19· paragraph.

20· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Thank you.

21· · · · · · A:· All right.

22· · · · · · Q:· Now, in that sentence, Dr. Cloretti is

23· referring to the 2013-2015 payroll analysis file, not

24· the A Cab OLE file.

25· · · · · · A:· Right.
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·1· · · · · · Q:· So, for the purposes of the question I`m

·2· going to ask you now, I want you to assume that the

·3· information in that file was the same for that time

·4· period--

·5· · · · · · A:· Okay.

·6· · · · · · Q:· --as in the A Cab OLE file.· Now, if we

·7· exclude the last clause of Dr. Cloretti`s report,

·8· which is where it says, ``and amounts between those

·9· figures using the three conditional calculations that

10· I discussed.``· We`re excluding that for purposes of

11· my question.· My question to you is do you believe

12· that his statement that an amount of $175,057

13· accounts to 7.25 an hour minimum wage rate and

14· $651,567 that accounts to 8.25 an hour minimum wage

15· rate are correct in the context of that sentence?

16· Just to review with you, what the sentence was

17· referring to is using the payroll records in payroll

18· record time in the file to calculate the amounts of

19· minimum wages they worked.

20· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· I`m going to object to the

21· form of the question.

22· · · · · · Q:· Okay.

23· · · · · · A:· All right.

24· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· It`s compound.

25· · · · · · A:· As we have said, the math probably...
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·1· the math works.· I don`t know where you`re ever going

·2· to get 8.25 for the entire period for one thing and

·3· as I`ve said, the 7.25 an hour, we can always

·4· recalculate the amount of hours probably need to...

·5· or the amount of hours probably need to be looked at

·6· a bit, but yes.· Otherwise, the math works because

·7· it`s just more the math works.· I think he said so in

·8· the next paragraph.

·9· · · · · · Q:· Did you sample either the A Cab OLE file

10· or the 2013-2015 payroll analysis file to determine

11· if there were any errors in the calculations or the

12· payroll data that appears in those files?

13· · · · · · A:· I believe you could probably say that.

14· I sampled it.· I did sample of like what is it, 30

15· different records out of the 2000 or the A Cab OLE

16· file and we looked at the payroll records and we

17· looked at through the trip sheets and we... what was

18· the second part of the question, did we look..?

19· · · · · · Q:· Well, the question involved two things.

20· It was sampling those files to determine if there

21· were errors in the calculations so let`s answer that

22· first.· Did you sample those files to see if there

23· were any calculation errors in the files themselves?

24· · · · · · A:· In the A Cab OLE file, I don`t... We

25· just put them in the computer.· I didn`t sample them.
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·1· I just put them as they were so I did not sample.  I

·2· did not check the math.· I assumed Dr. Cloretti and

·3· all that was fine.· I assumed it was okay.

·4· · · · · · Q:· Did you sample the payroll data?· By

·5· payroll data, I`m referring to the hours that appear

·6· from 2013 to 2015 from payroll records.· The amount

·7· paid that appears, the total wages paid is the term

·8· used in the A Cab OLE file.· Those two pieces of

·9· information come from payroll records that A Cab

10· produced in this litigation.· Did you sample the A

11· Cab OLE file to determine whether that information

12· was accurately placed in the A Cab OLE file from A

13· Cab`s records?

14· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· I`m going to object to the

15· form of the question.· It`s compound and it`s

16· assuming facts not in evidence and it lacks

17· foundation.

18· · · · · · A:· I used what was in the A Cab OLE file

19· for the wages reported by A Cab from the employer.  I

20· just used what that was.· I did not go back and check

21· to make sure that the numbers were correct.· As I

22· said I believe that that part of the data that you

23· have in the file is fine.· Now, the second part is we

24· looked at hours.· We recalculated hours.

25· · · · · · Q:· I understand.· Okay.· There is also a
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·1· column that appears in the A Cab file that says

·2· shifts worked from cab manager records.· Did you

·3· sample the A Cab OLE file and examine any source

·4· materials from A Cab to determine if the information

·5· that appears in that section of the A Cab OLE file is

·6· in fact accurate, an accurate extract from A Cab`s

·7· original records?

·8· · · · · · A:· I didn`t use the A Cab, the cab manager

·9· information because it`s just when the cab`s checked

10· out and when the cab`s checked in.· It`s there.· We

11· just decided it wasn`t a useful thing to look at.· We

12· looked at the actual time the employees were working.

13· · · · · · Q:· I understand.· So, just confirm for me.

14· Sitting here today, is there any basis that you have,

15· any information you`ve obtained or any belief you`ve

16· secured through your work on your report that any of

17· the information taken from A Cab`s original records

18· and placed in the A Cab OLE file was not properly

19· identified and placed in the A Cab OLE file?

20· · · · · · MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Objection.· Lacks

21· foundation.

22· · · · · · A:· I have no reason to believe there was

23· any inaccurate information.· As far as I can tell, it

24· was transferred over but I did not do a lot of work

25· on that.
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·1· · · · · · Q:· So, you understand that in Dr.

·2· Cloretti`s report, he discusses a process that

·3· Charles Bass went through to bring the information

·4· from the source files provided by A Cab into the

·5· Excel file that ultimately becomes the A Cab OLE

·6· file.· Did you review that portion of Dr. Cloretti`s

·7· report?

·8· · · · · · A:· Yes.· Yes.

·9· · · · · · Q:· Do you have any reason to dispute Dr.

10· Cloretti`s conclusion that that process performed by

11· Charles Bass and that Dr. Cloretti described was

12· correct and accurate?

13· · · · · · A:· To say correct and accurate... it seems

14· like it was done properly, yes.

15· · · · · · Q:· I`d ask you to take a look at page 5 of

16· Exhibit 1 which is your report.· Now I would draw

17· your attention to the last sentence of the paragraph

18· that appears just before Roman Numeral IV.

19· · · · · · A:· Okay.

20· · · · · · Q:· Please read that sentence and then I`ll

21· ask a question.

22· · · · · · A:· Okay.

23· · · · · · Q:· Now, when you say at the beginning of

24· that sentence, ``testing on the model,`` you were

25· referring to the calculation report earlier in that
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·1· · · · · · · · ·CERTIFICATE OF RECORDER

·2· STATE OF NEVADA· ·)

·3· COUNTY OF CLARK· ·)

·4· NAME OF CASE:· · MICHAEL MURRAY vs A CAB TAXI SERVICE LL

·5· · · I, Jared Marez, a duly commissioned

·6· Notary Public, Clark County, State of Nevada, do hereby

·7· certify:· That I recorded the taking of the

·8· deposition of the witness,· Robert S. Leslie,

·9· commencing on 10/10/2017.

10· That prior to being examined the witness was

11· duly sworn to testify to the truth.

12· · · I further certify that I am not a relative or

13· employee of an attorney or counsel of any of the

14· parties, nor a relative or employee of an attorney or

15· counsel involved in said action, nor a person

16· financially interested in the action.

17· IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my

18· hand in my office in the County of Clark, State of

19· Nevada, this 10/10/2017.

20

21· _________________________________

22· Jared Marez Notary

23

24

25
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LEON GREENBERG, ESQ., SBN 8094
DANA SNIEGOCKI, ESQ., SBN 11715
Leon Greenberg Professional Corporation
2965 South Jones Blvd- Suite E3
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
(702) 383-6085
(702) 385-1827(fax)
leongreenberg@overtimelaw.com
dana@overtimelaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

MICHAEL MURRAY, and MICHAEL
RENO, Individually and on behalf of
others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

A CAB TAXI SERVICE LLC, A CAB,
LLC, and CREIGHTON J. NADY,

Defendants.
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Case No.: A-12-669926-C

Dept.: I

DECLARATION OF
PLAINTIFFS’ COUNSEL,
LEON GREENBERG

Leon Greenberg, an attorney duly licensed to practice before this Court, hereby

affirms, under penalty of perjury, the following:

1.   I am one of the attorneys representing the plaintiffs in the above-entitled

action and have been appointed class counsel.  

2.   On December 19, 2017, I had two telephone discussions with Esther

Rodriguez, defendant’s counsel, about the in limine issues.  Prior to those discussions I

sent her the attached letter listing the various issues that I thought should be discussed

and resolved in connection with the same.   She assured me during our discussion that

she had reviewed my list.  We did discuss several of these issues and managed to reach
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an agreement as to two of these issues.  In respect to the remaining issues, she advised

me she would not agree and they would have to be resolved by the Court.

Affirmed this 21  day of December, 2017.st

 /s/ Leon Greenberg             
Leon Greenberg, Esq.
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RIS
Esther C. Rodriguez, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 6473
RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P.C.
10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
702-320-8400
info@rodriguezlaw.com

Michael K. Wall, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 2098
Hutchison & Steffen, LLC
10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
702-385-2500
mwall@hutchlegal.com 
Attorneys for Defendants

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

MICHAEL MURRAY and MICHAEL RENO,
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Plaintiffs,
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A CAB TAXI SERVICE LLC and A CAB, LLC,
and CREIGHTON J. NADY,
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Case No.: A-12-669926-C
Dept. No. I

Hearing Date: January 2, 2018
Hearing Time: 9:00 a.m.

DEFENDANTS’ REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Defendants A Cab, LLC and Creighton J. Nady, by and through their attorneys of record,

ESTHER C. RODRIGUEZ, ESQ., of RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P.C., and MICHAEL K. WALL, ESQ., of

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, LLC, and pursuant to NRCP 56(c), hereby respectfully submit this Reply

in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. 

. . .

. . .

. . .
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I.

1. Plaintiffs’ Arguments Contradict Themselves.

In opposition to dismissal, Plaintiffs argue that Defendants have “recast the Plaintiffs’

claim” into one for fraudulent break times and unpaid hours worked.  Plaintiffs’ Opposition, 6:25-

26.  There is no re-casting; these are Plaintiffs’ words.  This is what is specifically pled by Plaintiffs

in their Second Amended Complaint which will go to trial in February 2018.  See Specifically,

Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint, para. 17, filed August 19, 2015.  These same allegations of

fraud also serve as the basis of Plaintiffs’ claim for punitive damages.  See Plaintiffs’ Second

Amended Complaint, para. 19.   Plaintiffs commence their Opposition to dismissal by altogehter

denying they are claiming fraud; and state the Defendants are “recasting” their claims.  By the end

of the Opposition, however, Plaintiffs do an about-face then arguing fraud in order to preserve their

claims for punitive damages as well as claims against Defendant Nady.  In sum, Plaintiffs argument

to the Court is:  “no, we are not pleading fraud for purposes of class certification” (otherwise

Plaintiffs would have to concede the Court should dismiss the claims); and “yes, we are pleading

fraud for purposes of punitive damages and claims against Defendant Nady” (otherwise Plaintiffs

would have to concede the Court should dismiss these claims).

Plaintiffs want to assert and to rely upon fraud in each of their claims, but then back-away

when they are confronted by the fact that a fraud claim is improper for a class action claim.  The

Nevada Supreme Court has made clear that a class suit to recover damages for fraud allegedly

practiced upon numerous persons is not warranted.  Cases collect. Annot., 114 A.L.R. 1015. 

Johnson v. Travelers Ins. Co., 89 Nev. 467, 515 P.2d 68 (Nev. 1973).  Therefore, in opposition to

dismissal, Plaintiffs take the position that it is not a fraud claim.

Yet, to support their claim for punitive damages, Plaintiffs then write, “There is sufficient

evidence in the record from which a jury could conclude that defendants have engaged in bad faith

intentional conduct warranting an award of punitive damages.”  Plaintiffs Opposition, 12:18-20.  In

support of this charge, Plaintiffs continue:

 “A Cab acted willfully to violate the MWA by failing to keep accurate records of its
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taxi drivers’ hours of work is further supported by evidence that it directed taxi

drivers to falsify their break time hours on their trip sheets. Ex “B” Murray Dec. The

U.S. Department of Labor concluded that such falsification was occurring and

confronted defendant Nady about it who denied it and insisted the driers were liars.” 

Plaintiffs’ Opposition, 13:8-14.

In simply arguing in contradiction to themselves, and not putting forth any admissible evidence,

Plaintiffs cannot defeat a dismissal of this action.

2. Plaintiffs Concede They Have No Representative Plaintiff for a 37 month period.

In conceding they have no class representative for the time period sought in this lawsuit,

Plaintiffs simply argue they have no requirement to have a “temporal mirror,” but cite to no

authority in support of this theory.  Plaintiffs’ Opposition, 7:21-23.  In fact, the opposite is true and

can be confirmed by simply reviewing the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 23 which indicates

there must be a class representative, and obviously the representative must come from the class. 

Here, there is no one.

Plaintiffs have had 5 years to come up with a class representative and failed to do so.  There

is no representative driver for a period of 37 months or over 3 years for which damages are alleged. 

By Plaintiffs’ own arguments, payroll procedures and calculations (the alleged foundation of this

lawsuit) were different in 2011 (when Murray & Reno worked) versus 2015 (when no one worked).

Plaintiffs cite to no supporting authority allowing them to pursue a claim with no

representative member of the class.  Defendants have cited to the Walmart v. Dukes case in their

request to the Court, which followed a series of federal decisions supporting this line:  Rule 23(a)

ensures that the named plaintiffs are appropriate representatives of the class whose claims they wish

to litigate. The Rule's four requirements—numerosity, commonality, typicality, and adequate

representation—"effectively ‘limit the class claims to those fairly encompassed by the named

plaintiff's claims.' " General Telephone Co. of Southwest v. Falcon, 457 U.S. 147, 156, 102 S.Ct.

2364, 72 L.Ed.2d 740 (1982) (quoting General Telephone Co. of Northwest v. EEOC, 446 U.S. 318,

330, 100 S.Ct. 1698, 64 L.Ed.2d 319 (1980)).  "A class representative must be part of the class and

‘possess the same interest and suffer the same injury' as the class members." East Tex. Motor
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Freight System, Inc. v. Rodriguez, 431 U.S. 395, 403, 97 S.Ct. 1891, 52 L.Ed.2d 453 (1977)

(quoting Schlesinger v. Reservists Comm. to Stop the War, 418 U.S. 208, 216, 94 S.Ct. 2925, 41

L.Ed.2d 706 (1974)). Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, 131 S.Ct. 2541, 2550 (2011).

How can Plaintiffs even present a witness to support this claim at trial when one has never

been named in 5 years of discovery and disclosures?  The 37 month time period in which there is no

class representative must be dismissed as a matter of law.  

3. Plaintiffs Have Not Met the Minimum Threshold In Support of Punitive Damages to

Defeat Summary Judgment.

In opposition to Defendant’s request for a dismissal of punitive damages, Plaintiffs offer no

authority, be it regulations or caselaw, in opposition to Sprouse.  They merely argue that case does

not say what it clearly says.  Plaintiffs refer to the Constitutional provision which specifies the

relief which is available, but in fact makes no mention of punitive damages.  Instead the

Constitutional provision indicates “back pay, damages, reinstatement or injunctive relief.” 

Plaintiffs’ Motion, 11:5-6.  There is no indication that punitive damages were contemplated with

the provision.  Plaintiffs’ argument that “When a constitutional provision’s language is clear on its

face, we will not go beyond that language in determining the voters’ intent” in reality lends support

that there was no intent to include punitive damages.

More importantly, Plaintiffs have not made a minimum showing of any evidence to support

a claim for punitive damages rising to the level of malicious and/or fraudulent and/or oppressive

conduct by the defendants.  Instead, the evidence shows the contrary.  The undisputed evidence

demonstrates that A Cab: (1) received a clean bill from the Department of Labor audit with no

minimum wage violations; (2) A Cab subsidized its drivers’ pay in an attempt to pay the minimum

wage; and (3) A Cab entered into an agreement with the United States government to resolve any

underpayment when there were assurances the money would go into the pockets of the drivers.

The only item supporting Plaintiffs’ claim for punitive damages is their fraud claim that

drivers were forced to falsify tripsheets and enter fraudulent hours on their tripsheets - a claim

which Plaintiffs now back away from.  Plaintiffs argue that punitive damages are necessary to

“incentivizing” employers to voluntarily pay, and to penalize those who get “caught”.  Plaintiffs’
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Motion, 12:6-8.  This argument supports why punitive damages are not appropriate in this instance. 

The documents themselves demonstrate that A Cab was already subsidizing its drivers’ pay to

ensure that the minimum wage was being paid.  Further, as Nady testified in his sworn depositions,

and the Nevada Deputy Labor Commissioner will confirm at trial, Nady met with him to ensure A

Cab was doing everything to remain in full compliance with all State and Federal regulations and

laws.  Plaintiffs have not put forth 1 piece of documented evidence to demonstrate the contrary, nor

1 witness who will contravene this.  

Plaintiffs must come forward with evidence to defeat summary judgment.  In their

Opposition, Plaintiffs return to their fraud claim in citing and attaching a double hearsay document

contained in the Department of Labor documents, wherein the investigator interviewed one of the

claimant drivers who said he was forced to falsify break time hours.  Plaintiffs’ Motion, 13:8-14. 

This document is not admissible and does not defeat summary judgment on this issue.  See Rule

56(e).  Evidence introduced in support or to oppose summary judgment must be admissible

evidence.  Collins v. Union Federal Savings & Loan Ass’n, 99 Nev. 284 (1983); Henry Products,

Inc. v. Tarmu, 114 Nev. 1017 (1998).

Because Plaintiffs have not made a minimal showing of any malicious and/or fraudulent

and/or oppressive conduct by the defendants, Plaintiffs’ claims must be disposed of pursuant to

NRS 42.005.  Further, a claim for punitive damages is not available to Plaintiffs.  NRS 42.005.

Plaintiffs’ claim for relief does not sound in tort as required by NRS 42.005 and Sprouse. 

Plaintiffs’ allegations evidence an employment relationship, which under Nevada law is a

contractual relationship governed by contract law and hence their allegations are not “sound in

tort,” but arise from an alleged breach of an obligation arising from a contractual relationship. 

Therefore, NRS 42.005 prohibits Plaintiffs from receiving any award for punitive damages. 

Summary judgment shall be granted when there are no genuine issues of material fact and

the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  NRCP 56(c).

4. Plaintiffs’ Claims Against Nady Must Be Dismissed.

In their Opposition, Plaintiffs state “substantial evidence” exists to keep these claims alive. 

However, in support, Plaintiffs only offer an unanswered deposition response where improper
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questioning delving into basic attorney-client communications was being sought.  Further, the

questioning was in contravention of that ordered by the Discovery Commissioner after a conference

was necessitated due to Plaintiffs’ insistence on asking for privileged communications.  Plaintiffs

now seek to use the invocation of the attorney-client privilege as evidence to defeat summary

judgment, which is completely improper. 

What Plaintiffs attach in support as their Exhibit H states as follows:

MR. GREENBERG:· Mr. Nady, who is your business lawyer?

A:· For what type of advice?

Q:· For advices to how you should organize your businesses.· I`m not talking about anyone who

represents you in an actual court case, sir.· I`m talking about people you would consult

about something for your business, not litigation.

A:· I suppose I have four or five other lawyers that I pay.

Q:· Can you identify them?

A:· Bill Crane, Gretchen Jacobs, Dan Migliore, Steve Oshins, probably a couple others that

I can`t recall at the time.

Q:· And you do not have to answer this question if you do not wish to, I understand, but I`m

not going to ask it anyway.· You tell me that you`re  refusing based on privilege, that`s fine.· Did

you seek advice from any of those lawyers about how A Cab`s business should be changed in terms

of its legal structure after this lawsuit was started?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:· I think I`m going to object based on the guidance provided by the

discovery commissioner.

Q:· The objection is fine.· I just want· it to come from the witness, counsel.

A:· Are you asking me if I sought legal counsel after?

Q:· From any of the business lawyers· you identified, did you seek advice from them about

 changing the legal structure --

A:· About the changing the structure?

Q:· Yes.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Hold on.· Let him finish his question.
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Q:· Of changing the structure.· For  instance, you mentioned A Cab at one time was a one-

person LLC.· It became a Series LLC.· Changing the legal structure of A Cab after this lawsuit was

started and in response to this lawsuit.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:· Same objection based on the guidance provided by the discovery

commissioner· in our conference.

A:· I`ll invoke the privilege there.  Deposition of Creighton J. Nady, 113:6 - 114:24, attached as

Exhibit H to Plaintiffs’ Motion.

From this improper questioning (and against the Discovery Commissioner’s ruling),

Plaintiffs’ counsel represents in their Motion that Nady admits he transferred A Cab’s assets in

response to this litigation to shield them from any judgment.  Plaintiffs’ Motion, 14:24-15:7.  This

is a complete misrepresentation of the evidence to the Court; and certainly does not meet the

minimum required to defeat summary judgment.

As a Third and Fourth claim for relief, Plaintiffs allege “civil conspiracy, aiding and

abetting, concert of action”, alter ego, and unjust enrichment against Defendant Nady.  Plaintiffs

have yielded nothing from discovery on any of these issue, and have produced no documents or

witness which can support these claims against Defendant Nady.

The fact that Nady is a decision maker in the company does not subject him to personal

liability.  In Nevada, the contrary is true.  Nevada protects its businesses, and the corporate

structure cannot be pierced simply based on Plaintiffs’ assertions that Nady “orchestrated and

directed” decisions.  Again, no admissible evidence has been put forth, and the claims against Nady

must be dismissed as a matter of law.

II. Conclusion

Plaintiffs have failed on several fronts to support actionable claims; and these claims must

be dismissed by the Court as a matter of law.

1. Plaintiffs have failed to prove any actual damages for any individual Plaintiff, much less

actual damages for a class of individuals.  There are no documents or witnesses who support an

actual underpayment of minimum wages, rather than just a theory.  Both of Plaintiffs experts admit

they have no opinions on actual damages.

Page 7 of  9

AA005717



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

R
od

ri
gu

ez
 L

aw
 O

ff
ic

es
, P

.C
.

10
16

1 
P

ar
k 

R
un

 D
ri

ve
, S

ui
te

 1
50

L
as

 V
eg

as
, N

ev
ad

a 
89

14
5

T
el

 (
70

2)
 3

20
-8

40
0

F
ax

 (
70

2)
 3

20
-8

40
1

2. Plaintiffs have failed to prove the bare minimum of liability as pled in their Complaint.

Plaintiffs’ claims are based on the assertion of fraudulent break times written into the tripsheets. 

No witnesses or documents support this assertion other than the Second Amended Complaint. 

Further, Plaintiffs now even back away from this pleading.

Plaintiffs’ experts did not review any tripsheets or any documents to support this claim, and

offer no opinions in support.  It is undisputed that the employer has been actively calculating and

supplementing drivers’ pay with a minimum wage subsidy.  Plaintiffs have provided nothing in

contravention to indicate that A Cab has not been subsidizing its drivers to meet the minimum

wage.

3. Plaintiffs are pursuing claims for a class, with no representative Plaintiff for a 37 month

time period.  This claim for damages should not be allowed to go to a jury.

4. Plaintiffs cannot meet their burden on general liability, much less against a specific

Defendant.

5. The claims against Defendant Nady and for punitive damages must be dismissed as lacking

any basis.

6. Decertification of the class is appropriate, as the basis of Plaintiffs’ complaint is fraud,

which is not appropriate for certification (Cummings v. Charter Hospital, 111 Nev. 639 (1995)).

Based upon the foregoing points and authorities, Defendants respectfully requests this

Honorable Court to enter an Order granting Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment dismissing

this matter in its entirety.

DATED this   27th  day of December, 2017.

RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P. C.

    /s/   Esther C. Rodriguez, Esq.                     
Esther C. Rodriguez, Esq.
Nevada State Bar No.  006473
10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150
Las Vegas, Nevada  89145
Attorneys for Defendants 

Page 8 of  9

AA005718



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

R
od

ri
gu

ez
 L

aw
 O

ff
ic

es
, P

.C
.

10
16

1 
P

ar
k 

R
un

 D
ri

ve
, S

ui
te

 1
50

L
as

 V
eg

as
, N

ev
ad

a 
89

14
5

T
el

 (
70

2)
 3

20
-8

40
0

F
ax

 (
70

2)
 3

20
-8

40
1

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY on this   27th   day of December, 2017, I electronically filed the

foregoing with the Eighth Judicial District Court Clerk of Court using the E-file and Serve System

which will send a notice of electronic service to the following:

Leon Greenberg, Esq.
Leon Greenberg Professional Corporation
2965 South Jones Boulevard, Suite E4
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
Counsel for Plaintiff 

Christian Gabroy, Esq.
Gabroy Law Offices
170 South Green Valley Parkway # 280
Henderson, Nevada 89012
Counsel for Plaintiff Pending Order of Court

 /s/ Susan Dillow                                                      
An Employee of Rodriguez Law Offices, P.C.
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CIVIL/CRIMINAL DIVISION

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

MICHAEL MURRAY, et al, ) CASE NO. A-12-669926
)

     Plaintiffs, ) DEPT. NO. I  
 )
        vs. )

)    
A CAB TAXI SERVICE, LLC, et al, )

)
     Defendants. )     
                                                                       )
  

BEFORE THE HONORABLE KENNETH CORY, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

TUESDAY, JANUARY 2, 2018

TRANSCRIPT RE:
DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

APPEARANCES:

For the Plaintiffs: LEON GREENBERG, ESQ.

For the Defendants: ESTHER C. RODRIGUEZ, ESQ.
MICHAEL K. WALL, ESQ.

ALSO PRESENT: CREIGHTON J. NADY

   
RECORDED BY:  Lisa Lizotte, Court Recorder

Case Number: A-12-669926-C

Electronically Filed
2/8/2018 11:17 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, TUESDAY, JANUARY 2, 2018, 10:20 A.M.

* * * * *

THE CLERK:  Michael Murray versus A Cab Taxi Service.  Case Number

A669926.

THE COURT:  We saved the best for last.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Of course.  Good morning, Your Honor.  Esther

Rodriguez and Michael Wall for the defendants, as well as Creighton J. Nady is

present.

THE COURT:  Good morning.

MR. GREENBERG:  Leon Greenberg for plaintiffs, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Good morning.  Well, it’s your motion, so how do you want   

to argue it?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Briefly, Your Honor.  Would that please the Court?

THE COURT:  Yes, that would be good.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Okay.  Well, Your Honor, I moved for summary judgment

on behalf of A Cab on a number of issues -- on behalf of the defendants, I should

say.  The bottom line is I think we’ve been here before and there’s been admissions

and concessions from the plaintiffs and you’ll hear further on my motions in limine,

which I think are later in the month.  But basically their experts, their evidence, their

documents, there’s been no calculation of actual damages.  That’s a crucial part    

of any case, there’s liability and damages.  

So I won’t repeat all my arguments on that, but basically we believe

that the Court should dismiss the case in its entirety because they have no evidence

of actual damages for one individual, much less a class of individuals.  But what      

2
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I primarily want to focus on, if the Court is not inclined to dismiss the matter in       

its entirety for that, is for the Court to consider a dismissal of the claims against   

Mr. Nady personally.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  There has been absolutely no evidence to support the

plaintiffs’ claims of civil conspiracy, aiding and abetting.  There’s some serious

accusations that are in the complaint and which unless the Court dismisses will    

go before the jury.

THE COURT:  On that point, would they really be going before this jury?   

Did we not grant a bifurcation?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  We did grant a bifurcation and at that time I tried to point

out to the Court as well, because I think Mr. Greenberg’s arguments were that any

liability towards Mr. Nady would stem from any -- if there was any liability found

against A Cab.  And the Court agreed and said, okay, we’ll try part two, if necessary,

against Mr. Nady.  But the way that it is currently pled are separate causes of action,

those two being the civil conspiracy claim and the unjust enrichment claim.  And   

so this isn’t just a claim of alter ego and whether Mr. Nady -- if A Cab’s liability is

proven, whether there would be any further liability on Mr. Nady.  That’s not what

we’re talking about.  We’re talking about civil conspiracy and elements that have    

to be proven on that.  And I think in the Court’s ruling to bifurcate it wasn’t a carte

blanche or an open invitation to then start all over again and try to prove -- for the

plaintiffs to come up with the evidence to prove those particular claims that they

have against Mr. Nady.

THE COURT:  In other words, carte blanche to like reopen discovery -- 
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MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Correct.

THE COURT:  -- because, as you say, the discovery so far has been aimed

at the liability of the company.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Correct.  Correct.  And there’s been -- they have --       

he argued in his response that they have conducted discovery on that issue

because that’s what I argued in my motion, that there was no discovery on this.   

Mr. Greenberg is arguing, yes, I did do discovery, but he hasn’t come up with

anything in that discovery for these particular claims.  And in his response all        

he said is there’s ample evidence, there’s ample evidence of civil conspiracy and       

of unjust enrichment.  But he fails to put anything in his response, as would be

required to defeat summary judgment.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  So that’s the first point is that I think the Court -- I would

request that the Court consider a dismissal of those claims against Mr. Nady

because the plaintiff is required to come forward with something to support a civil

conspiracy or an unjust enrichment claim.  Similarly, my other request to the Court 

is to consider a dismissal of the punitive damages claim.  The same thing on this,

we have not seen any evidence, any witnesses to support the level that is required

for a punitive damages claim.  

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I argued and I produced or cited to the Sprouse case,

that this case is not even an appropriate case for punitive damages because this is

not a case that sounds in tort.  It’s a contractual employment wage claim, so punitive

damages aren’t appropriate in the first place by law.  But number two is that there

4
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simply is no evidence of punitives to support malice, fraud.  The only thing the

plaintiffs -- 

THE COURT:  Remind me what your response was to his argument that it    

is not simply a contract case but it involves violation of a constitutional principal   

and that therefore punitive damages might well be appropriate as to that.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, what he did was cite to the actual amendment,   

the constitutional amendment, which did lay out the remedies for a claimant.  And

my response was, yes, the remedies are laid out and there is no indication that

punitives were meant to be included in that, punitive damages or a new reading     

to include punitive damages if you’re doing a straight reading of the amendment.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So if you were going to avoid your argument by

claiming this is a constitutional, you’re limited to the damages specified in the

Constitution -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Correct.  Correct.

THE COURT:  -- which does not include punitives.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Correct.  But I think the most important part, Your Honor,

is that the only response that the plaintiffs put forward in their claim for punitive

damages is this fraud claim, the accusation or the allegation that A Cab forced its

drivers to write in fraudulent break times into the trip sheet.  And at the same time

they’re arguing, well, this is not a fraud claim -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- because if they say it is a fraud claim then it’s not

appropriate by case law, the Johnson v. Travelers case, for class certification.    

The case law is very clear that fraud claims are not appropriate for class actions. 
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And so plaintiff is saying, well, it’s not a fraud claim, but it is a fraud claim if it

supports our claim for punitive damages.  So they can’t have it both ways, and my

request to the Court would be that the punitive damages be stricken at this point

because there is no evidence for that and by law they cannot proceed with that.

The third point I would ask the Court to consider -- 

THE COURT:  Punitive damages as to both the corporation and Mr. Nady?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Correct.  Yes, all the defendants.  And the third item -- 

THE COURT:  Well, wait a minute.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Yes.

THE COURT: Maybe I’m off there.  That cause of action, would it include -- is

the cause of action or actions which -- under which -- under Mr. Greenberg’s theory

might give rise to punitive damages, are any of those even aimed at Mr. Nady?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, I’m looking at his complaint.

THE COURT:  Or is it only limited to one defendant?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  His complaint is attached as Exhibit 1 to my motion -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- and in his complaint on page 4 when he’s talking about

punitive damages he is referring to the defendants, plural.  And let me get to the

actual further pleading on this.  The second claim doesn’t have anything to do    

with it.  Third is against Mr. Nady and the fourth I believe is also against Mr. Nady. 

So the first cause of action is where he is alleging the punitive damages and I read 

it, since he names it throughout the pleading as defendants, plural -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- that it is alleged against all three of the defendants. 
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And the three defendants are two corporate ones, A Cab Taxi Service, LLC,           

A Cab LLC and Creighton J. Nady.

THE COURT:  And yet he claims that the evidence of this -- actions by Mr.

Nady, whether you consider it his personal actions or those of the corporation, to 

get the drivers to put in phony sheets, that evidence is not pertinent to the case and

I assume that means we wouldn’t be seeing any such evidence at trial.  If the Court

does not grant the motion, by virtue of the argument that you’ve put forward it seems

to me that there would be no evidence at trial, at least this first trial, of any of this

business of Mr. Nady getting -- or anyone else on his behalf getting the drivers to

put in phony sheets, so that’s something you’re going to need to answer.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, and that is the whole basis of the claim.  That’s why

I’ve always argued that this isn’t even a minimum wage claim, that it’s a claim for

unpaid hours.  The way that the complaint currently stands and reads after being

amended is the basis of the defendants not meeting the minimum wage because 

it’s undisputed that the defendants always subsidized their drivers’ pay to bring 

them up to minimum wage, but Mr. Greenberg’s argument has always been, per  

the complaint, that A Cab or the defendants forced the drivers to write in fraudulent

breaks.  So instead of the calculation being 12 hours, it comes down to 9 or 10

hours that they’re being paid.  And my argument has always been, well, that’s not   

a minimum wage, that’s your drivers are saying I wasn’t paid for three hours that     

I should have been paid for.  

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  So I understand the Court’s concern, then, in directing

that to Mr. Greenberg that he’s not going to bring in that evidence, but that is the
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basis of their claim -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- is the fraudulent breaks.  

THE COURT:  And so your point is that if they don’t, they may have no basis

to prevail at trial?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Correct.  Correct.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  And just a third item I would bring to the Court’s attention

is this rather large period of time that they do not have a representative plaintiff. 

We’re talking about three out of -- three years, over three years.  Thirty-seven

months is the calculation.  The main plaintiffs, Mr. Murray and Mr. Reno, stopped

working in 2011 and 2012.  The last one stopped in September of 2012, and this is

a damages claim all the way through the end of 2015.  

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  So the only one who kind of throws a fly in the ointment

there is Mr. Sergeant, who worked a period of two months in-between there in 2014. 

But other than that, even including the time period that Mr. Sergeant worked, it’s still

37 months, over three years that they are asking for damages.  I don’t even know

how they can put a plaintiff on the stand to make the claim for damages when they

don’t have a representative plaintiff.  And I’ve cited the case law that says you do

have to have the commonality -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- and the plaintiffs have to have an appropriate

representative and the representative must come from that class.  So I would ask

8
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the Court to reconsider the time period that is going to go forward before the Court. 

I think we need to use the time period in which they do -- they have shown a class

representative and that would be through 2012.

THE COURT:  You obviously don’t buy into his federal district court opinion

that says essentially that commonality doesn’t necessarily require -- what is it called,

a mirror image -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Right.

THE COURT:  -- of time; you know, time as a qualifier.  You don’t buy that

one?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  No.  I argued against that.  I didn’t see where he actually

cited to anything on that.

THE COURT:  I thought there was -- didn’t you have a federal district court

opinion that held that at least?

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.  I had cited to the Court federal district

authority which was most on point.  I also am prepared today to advise the Court   

of Ninth Circuit authority that was relied upon by that district court decision which

further develops the issue.  It’s on page 7 of the opposition, the Sarvas case.

THE COURT:  The adequacy requirement does not require temporal mirror -- 

yeah, that was it -- between the class representatives.  Okay.  All right, we’ll get to

yours in a minute here.

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I’ll submit with that, Your Honor, unless Your Honor has

further questions on those issues.

THE COURT:  What about the decertify class?
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MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, that goes hand in hand with my argument that --

two of the arguments.  If they are making the fraud claim, then it’s not appropriate

for Rule 23 class certification.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  So the Court can allow the trial to go forward on the

individual claims that they do have, but then, you know, our argument has always

been that the analysis that is required for these individual claims is very detailed,   

is very different for each one of these people.  Whether we’re talking about Mr.

Reno or Mr. Murray, you need to get into, well, what were their actual hours, what

were their health insurance issues, what’s the issue with their break times, because

they’re all making different claims.  And you can’t do a broad sweep and just throw 

it in, especially now at the end of the day with what we’re seeing that the plaintiffs’

experts don’t even have -- they’ve never looked at trip sheets, they’ve never looked

at the documents.  They’ve just come up with a tool to do an estimate of what they

think in theory was an underpayment.  But everything is in theory, there’s no actual

evidence.  

And so that’s why I said this is appropriate for decertification and let’s

get to the actual heart of the matter.  Let’s try Mr. Murray’s case, let’s try Mr. Reno’s

case, Mr. Sergeant’s, and anybody else that Mr. Greenberg represents.  But you

can’t look at it as a class action when there are so many individual factors that need

to be considered by the trier of fact to get to actual damages that A Cab would or

may be liable for.  

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.
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THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Greenberg, what say you?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, is there any particular issue the Court would like

me to address first?

THE COURT:  Well, of the ones that have been argued both in the pleadings

and here, I’m -- let me put it this way.  There are some that you would need to speak

to.  One is that no representative plaintiff for the class -- this notion of you don’t have

to have a temporal mirror.  Was it not a federal district court opinion you cited for

that?

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, it was, Your Honor.  And again -- 

THE COURT:  Is it Wal-Mart?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, no.  Wal-Mart -- 

THE COURT:  No, that’s a supreme court case.

MR. GREENBERG:  Wal-Mart deals with the (b)(2) class certification issue -- 

THE COURT:  Oh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- where one is seeking equitable relief.  Essentially in

Wal-Mart they were trying to shoehorn a nationwide sex discrimination damages

claim -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- against the company for potentially hundreds of

thousands of plaintiffs under a (b)(2) equitable relief under this concept that you

could somehow put in this attendant, you know, damages jurisdiction with the

equitable jurisdiction.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  The supreme court said no, we’re not going to use that

11
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standard to certify -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- what’s really a (b)(3) damages class in that case.       

A very different set of circumstances and concerns were presented in Wal-Mart  

than in here where we’re dealing with a (b)(3) case for damages, Your Honor.

The Sarvas case, which, again, I did cite on page 7 -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- is relying on established Ninth Circuit authority and I

have the authority here.  I looked at this last night.  I mean, the Ninth Circuit revisited

this issue just last year in the Just Film case.  I can give you the cite.  And just to

quote briefly, it says typicality -- because when we talk about representatives, the

idea that the representatives’ claim has to have some common nexus, it must be

typical of the class, is tied to this question of adequacy of representation.  They

must be in a position -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- to also advocate on behalf of the class effectively. 

And typicality, and I’m quoting, “focuses on the class representatives’ claims but  

not the specific facts from which the claim arose and insures that the interest of the

class representative, quotes, aligns with the interest of the class.” They cite earlier

Ninth Circuit authority, the Hanon case.  “The requirement is permissive, such that

representative claims are typical if they are reasonably coextensive with those of

absent class members; they need not be substantially identical.”  Citing Parsons 

and Hanlon, which are also earlier Ninth Circuit decisions.  “Measures of typicality

include whether other members have the same or similar injury, whether the action
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is based on conduct which is not unique to the named plaintiffs, and whether other

class members have been injured by the same course of conduct.”

THE COURT:  Do those -- do any of those Ninth Circuit cases get into this

temporal mirror stuff?  Or, in other words, do they directly address the question of

how much of a claim -- a claim’s time period does the representative plaintiff need 

to be able to cover in terms of having been employed?  Any of those address that

directly?

MR. GREENBERG:  I understand your question, Your Honor, and I want to

be perfectly honest with the Court, as I always should be.

THE COURT:  That would be a good idea.

MR. GREENBERG:  They do not, simply because it’s not an issue that’s

raised or discussed in these decisions because this question of temporal or time

frame identity that defendants are raising here -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- has no basis in actual facts.  If the defendants came

before this Court -- let’s say, for example, this was a discrimination case that

involved a certain hiring application that was used by the employer for a two year

period and then was stopped and was not used for another two year period and   

we were seeking relief for people who were denied jobs based upon use of this

discriminatory application process.  Then clearly in that situation you have a bright

line chronologically in terms of the claim.  So, somebody who came in in this later

two year period, they wouldn’t be in a position to claim that the application process

in the earlier two year period was discriminatory because they weren’t part of that

situation, those set of facts, okay, Your Honor.  
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But we have nothing in this case or this record except defendants’

assertions that somehow, well, the policies were different, so forth and so on, during

various periods of time.  There were different record keeping that was maintained by

the employer, this is true.  Starting in 2013 we had an asserted payroll record was

keeping track of the hours per pay period, which did not exist before 2013 and we

had an asserted policy by the defendants starting in 2013 to pay minimum wages. 

But the plaintiffs still assert that they were not in fact being paid for all of their hours

of work under the minimum wage standard, that even in 2013 the records were    

not accurate.  Prior to 2013 there are no records per payroll period, so their

compensation every payroll period wasn’t sufficient to meet the minimum wage.

So, Your Honor, the claims are the same, okay.  There is no evidence

here that there is any impairment to the typicality or the adequacy of representation

requirements of the class action.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  I would also point out that Mr. Sergeant, who they don’t

mention, was a -- has been appointed by this Court as a class representative.  He

worked in 2014, so he actually worked during the period of time when this different

payroll record-keeping system was in place, Your Honor, that is at issue in this

litigation.  So even there, not that that should be a legitimate dividing line anyway 

for the certification question, but we have representatives who were present during

both sets of record-keeping policies, Your Honor.

I mean, if Your Honor wants me to address this further, I would also

point out the East Texas Motor Freight Systems case, which is cited by defendants. 

This is one of the leading United States Supreme Court cases dealing with this
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question of adequacy and typicality of class representatives.  Just to briefly quote

from the decision and the supreme court in upholding the -- in finding that the class

certification was granted in error -- the Court of Appeals in that case actually granted

the class certification post -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- post district court proceedings.  The supreme court

reversed it and they reversed it because in that case that was a discrimination case

where there were claims of discrimination in promotion that were being brought

supposedly on behalf of a class of bus drivers.  I believe it was transit workers.  And

the supreme court said that these representatives, Rodriguez, Perez and Herrera

were not members of the class of the discriminatees they purported to represent. 

The district court found that these plaintiffs lacked the qualifications to be hired as

line drivers.  They simply on the merits could not have qualified for these jobs that

they said were being discriminatorily withheld from people of a certain ethnicity.  So

thus they could not have suffered -- they suffered no injury as a result of the alleged

discriminatory practices.  So -- 

THE COURT:  You’re talking about the East Texas Motor Freight case?

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, I am.  I mean, where you have a situation where a

representative has not sustained the injury that is alleged by the class, okay, where

clearly on the record this representative has not been injured in the same fashion 

as the class injury, they can’t be a representative.  We understand that.  That’s 

what the Supreme Court is telling us in this case and in similar cases.  

It’s not the case here.  I mean, in the motion for partial summary

judgment, Your Honor, which I would just briefly remind we’re still waiting for a
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decision on, Your Honor.  Your Honor took that under advisement and with trial

approaching it would be helpful for us to hear -- 

THE COURT:  You’d like an answer to that?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, I don’t want to jump to that, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  We’re addressing this.

THE COURT:   Uh-huh.  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  But in connection with that motion we had documented

and it was undisputed that Mr. Sergeant was shown by defendants’ own records    

to be owed certain unpaid minimum wages, from defendants’ own records.  We

have the assertions, and this is discussed at page 6 of the opposition, we have    

Mr. Murray’s declaration that he was working on average 11 hours per shift.  If      

Mr. Murray was working 11 hours per shift, then he’s owed over $2,000 in unpaid

minimum wages based upon simple arithmetic in terms of the analysis, the table

that was constructed by plaintiff’s expert that, you know, we’ll have testimony

presented at trial of.  So assuming the plaintiffs are able to make out their

allegations, their allegations are accepted as factually correct, they have the injuries

that are alleged to the class.  This isn’t the East Texas case where the facts were

determined to show that the representatives had no injury that was common to the

class.  So I think I’ve adequately addressed this question.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  Unless you have other questions -- 

THE COURT:  No.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- regarding the representative fitness, Your Honor.
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THE COURT:  No.  Let’s go to the claim that any punitive damages should 

be dismissed because -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes.

THE COURT:  -- partly because it’s not -- it’s based on fraud claims which 

are not amenable to class treatment.

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor, on page 13 and page 14 there’s -- 

THE COURT:  Of yours?

MR. GREENBERG:  -- of my opposition there’s a discussion as to some      

of the reasons, and some of this overlaps with the question of Mr. Nady’s liability

individually -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- as to why punitive -- why there’s enough in the record

here that a punitive damages finding could be warranted on the evidence that’s

before the Court, which is that as discussed at page 13 and this Court is aware, in

February of 2013 Your Honor made a finding that these class members are subject

to the minimum wage provided by Nevada’s Constitution.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  Defendants for another 15 months, and Mr. Nady

testified about this at his deposition, did not comply with the requirements of Nevada

law.  Despite being aware of Your Honor’s determination that coverage existed, 

they continued to take a tip credit, which was permissible under the federal law but

not under state law, and as a result underpaid the drivers approximately $170,000

during that period of time because they were giving themselves a tip credit and

offsetting their minimum wage requirements under their own records with those tips. 
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I mean, that goes back again to the partial summary judgment motion, Your Honor.

So that -- I would submit that standing alone is sufficient to open a question of

willfulness, intent and so forth that would allow a finding of punitive damages.  

I mean, we also have -- and again, this is discussed at page 13, we

have this history in 2009 of the defendants being told to keep proper records of the

hours that people are working.  The fact of the matter and the statute requires --

608.115 requires the keeping of these hours worked per pay period records.  They

were not kept by the defendants until 2013.  They were advised in 2009 to keep

them.  They promised the U.S. Department of Labor they would.  They did not.   

The U.S. Department of Labor made a finding in 2013 that the defendants were

manipulating the trip sheets and were forcing drivers to put in break time in their trip

sheets that were false in an attempt to conceal the hours they were working.  Now,  

I know defendants say this is multiple hearsay.  Your Honor, the conclusions of the

Department of Labor are not in fact hearsay.  I mean, the fact that they were told

this by other drivers may be hearsay, but it was a government agency, they reached

that conclusion.  So -- 

THE COURT:  From that I conclude that you would be intending to introduce

evidence during this stage of the proceedings, this trial, of those kinds of activities,

notwithstanding your argument that it’s not really necessary -- that that’s not really

the gravamen of the case anymore.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, it’s never been the gravamen of the case. 

We don’t rely on the defendants’ records to show the hours that were worked, okay. 

We agree the compensation records are accurate.  The only thing that’s agreed

upon between the parties here is we know what these people were paid and nobody
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disputes what they were paid.  The question is how many hours did they work for

that pay every week, every two week pay period?

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  That is the factual issue in dispute between the parties,

Your Honor.  The accuracy of the trip sheets or the accuracy of the payroll period

records they started keeping in 2013 is an issue of fact for trial.  The plaintiffs

dispute the accuracy of those records, but their claim doesn’t arise as a result of

those records not being accurate.  The plaintiffs are going to have to come in here

and they’re going to have to present their assertions regarding their hours of work. 

They are not going to rely upon the defendants’ records, at least not solely.  They

assert that they worked more hours than whatever the defendant has recorded     

for them.  

So the fact that they assert the records are inaccurate is not their

cause of action.  That’s just an evidentiary issue.  Defendants are free to come in

and say, look, these are the records.  Here we have this trip sheet from this plaintiff,

he filled this out.  The jury could agree that it’s accurate or it could agree that the

plaintiff -- the plaintiff testifies, well, I was forced to write this break time in because

they told me I had to do it because they didn’t want me to show I was working too

many hours because they’d have to pay me more wages.  That’s just a factual

issue.

THE COURT:  So, failing that, if the defendants don’t do that, what you just

described, producing trip sheets and making an argument from that, is it true that

you would not be bringing in evidence during this phase, this trial phase of the

claims that Mr. Nady and/or his agents were importuning them to or forcing them   
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to fill out phony trip sheets?  I’m trying to figure out -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  I understand Your Honor’s question.  It’s an interesting

question, Your Honor, and I want to be very frank, as always, with the Court.  In

terms of their case-in-chief, if defendants do not intend to rely on the trip sheets,

okay, the fact that the trip sheets are inaccurate is not something that the plaintiffs

will bring up in their case-in-chief.  If the trip sheets were not to be mentioned at all -- 

THE COURT:  So it would only be -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  -- then the plaintiffs have no reason to question their

validity because it’s not an issue, it’s not a piece of  evidence introduced in the case. 

In respect to -- 

THE COURT:  So -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes? 

THE COURT:  -- it would only be essentially to impeach any defense witness

who attempts to prove the contrary?

MR. GREENBERG:  That is -- that is correct, Your Honor.  It would be an

attempt to either show the defendants’ reliance on the trip sheets is not correct,  

and in addition, Your Honor, we have testimony already in the record here that 

those 2013 to 2015 payroll records which did purport to record the hours worked 

per pay period, that testimony is that those hours came from the trip sheets.  So    

to the extent that defendants have maintained that those records are accurate,    

the question of the trip sheets’ accuracy then comes in because they’ve testified 

that those computerized records were derivative of the trip sheets, Your Honor.

So that’s the extent to which plaintiffs would be looking towards that

issue, okay, but that’s not where our cause of action lies.  Our cause of action is 
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very simply, look, we worked these number of hours and what you paid us wasn’t

enough to meet the minimum wage for every pay period every week that we worked

these hours.  Some weeks they were.  I mean, some weeks they were in compliance. 

There’s no question that certain class members got paid minimum wages for some

majority.  In fact, there are probably some people who are class members in this

case under Your Honor’s order, which broadly certified the class as to all taxi drivers

employed, who probably aren’t owed any minimum wages.  

This is one of the issues I raised in the bifurcation motion which Your

Honor recently resolved and in resolving that -- not that I necessarily agree with Your

Honor’s approach or am completely clear on exactly how Your Honor envisions us

moving forward with this case, but one of the things Your Honor did recognize is that

the jury is going to have to be free to make an assessment, an inference based upon

the evidence here as to the average hours that were worked because we don’t have

records per pay period.  This discussion that defense counsel was engaging in with

Your Honor about the need to make these individualized findings as to each single

person in terms of how many hours they worked, Your Honor has clearly recognized

in that order that that is not an appropriate way for us to proceed because essentially

it would absolve an employer in this situation from any sort of reckoning on a class-

wide basis -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- for a large scale violation of the law by not keeping

accurate records.  I mean, this was the Mt. Clemens v. Anderson case and so forth, 

so the law on this is well established.  Your Honor has recognized that.  So we’re

going to have to go and have a jury empowered to make a broad finding of some sort
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based upon the evidence presented about the hours worked.  And then based upon

that make an attendant finding about what may be owed to the class because, again,

we know what they were paid.  It’s just a question of were they paid enough for the

hours that they worked, and if they weren’t, how much less, okay.  And we have

experts who will be prepared to testify as to that, Your Honor.  But -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Uh -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor, question?

THE COURT:  Your argument about the punitive damage that you’re claiming

here, part of it is, at least it’s a fairly almost all encompassing argument about the

punitive damage claim, but part of it is that this is not a breach of contract case,    

this is a violation of a constitutional right.  Is there anything further that you want to

say about that?

MR. GREENBERG:  I would just respond to something that defendant was

saying, that the constitutional amendment’s language itself, it doesn’t say anything

about punitive damages.  It authorizes a relief of damages.  But -- and this is at  

page 11 of my opposition and this is the actual language in terms of talking about

what can be secured by the employer.  The employer, and then quote -- employee,

quote, “shall be entitled to all remedies available under the law or in equity

appropriate to remedy any violation of this section, including -- including but not

limited to back pay damages, reinstatement or injunctive relief.”  

When it says damages, Your Honor, it doesn’t say compensatory

damages.  It doesn’t say punitive damages, either, I agree.  It just says damages

generally.  But when you read this broad language, I don’t see how you can read 

into this an interpretation that this precludes punitive damages.  So I would submit
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Your Honor needs to look beyond this language to the broader circumstances of  

this case, the broader policy implications, which I discuss in my brief, Your Honor,  

so I don’t want to repeat what’s in the brief, okay.

THE COURT:  Okay.  What about their argument that the only claims you

have against Mr. Nady are -- sound in civil conspiracy, that there’s been no discovery

conducted of that and that should be dismissed at this point?  And with your

response to that, please also indicate would you be intending, once this trial phase 

is over, reopening discovery about Mr. Nady? 

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor, Your Honor bifurcated the claims

against Mr. Nady simply because if A Cab gets a finding of no liability or if there is    

a finding of liability against A Cab and A Cab satisfies that liability, there’s no claim

against Mr. Nady.  

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  So I would submit that in compliance with that we really

shouldn’t be spending your effort and time reviewing this issue at this point.  In  

terms of the answer to your question, whether we would pursue additional discovery

against Mr. Nady, we are prepared to proceed against Mr. Nady individually after

stage one of this case if A Cab doesn’t satisfy the judgment.  I mean, we’re not --

we’re not necessarily opposed to having further discovery, but we had no request  

for that.  It was not contemplated.  Mr. Nady did specifically give a deposition in his

individual capacity.  He gave that in June of last year, which was actually prior to 

your order in July which granted the bifurcation, okay.  

In terms of why Mr. Nady would be in a position to be held personally

liable if A Cab doesn’t satisfy the judgment or liability here, this is discussed at   
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page 14 of the opposition.  The issue is that Mr. Nady is the sole controller of the

company.  He is the sole beneficiary of the company.  He’s the sole decision maker. 

He’s not an absentee owner.  He profited substantially from the company’s business. 

If the company had paid the minimum wage, if A Cab had paid the minimum wages

during this period of time, we’re talking hundreds of thousands of dollars, perhaps    

a million dollars or more, that would have decreased the profits of the business that

Mr. Nady personally received by a like amount, okay.  

This is -- it’s not disputed that he received substantial income from the

company.  We have the financial records.  They’re, you know, under seal.  I have not

submitted them in camera.  I don’t think it’s necessary because defendants are not

disputing that the business was in fact profitable and Mr. Nady in fact did receive

substantial profits from the business.  If the business was never profitable, then I

don’t know that Mr. Nady could necessarily be held liable, you understand, because

the nature of the liability, as in the fourth claim for relief, Your Honor, is also really   

in the nature of unjust enrichment.   

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  And I would submit, Your Honor, actually that the claim

against Mr. Nady, if it was to proceed, would really be a claim in equity, okay, under 

a theory of unjust enrichment or alter ego -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- not a jury type damages claim, Your Honor.  And we

would stipulate to limit that claim at this point.  I mean, I realize this has been a little

vague so far in the proceedings, but we would agree that that would be the nature  

of the claim that would proceed against him at that point if necessary.  And again, 
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Mr. Nady does not dispute -- 

THE COURT:  So, when you say it would be on the basis of unjust

enrichment, is that excluding, then, any claim or evidence of a civil conspiracy?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor, the civil conspiracy or aiding and

abetting claim is made here simply because Nevada law recognizes these concepts. 

But quite candidly, they’re not well defined -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- in the jurisprudence by our supreme court.  And a

question could be argued, well, is this really any different, an aiding and abetting   

or civil conspiracy claim, in these circumstances is it really any different than an 

alter ego or an unjust enrichment claim -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- because Mr. Nady essentially is using the entity as his

agent.  You know, it’s a conspiracy of himself with his agent.  You understand what

I’m saying.  So, the claim is pleaded, Your Honor, because, again, the law is a bit

unclear, but I don’t know that there’s any real distinction.  You understand what    

I’m saying -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- between the two.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  How about decertifying the class?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  Because it’s essentially a fraud claim, not a -- anything to say

more about that?

MR. GREENBERG:  I really don’t know how further to address that than I have,
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Your Honor, except to say again that defendants are trying to make this claim into

something that it isn’t.  The ultimate question is what hours did these people work?    

I mean, we know what they were paid.  Was it sufficient to meet the minimum wage

requirements?  The reason that it wasn’t sufficient is not germane to the minimum

wage amendment.  The minimum wage amendment doesn’t care if it was a mistake, 

if there was an intentional record-keeping violation.  Whatever the cause is irrelevant. 

The claim doesn’t -- when we talk about fraud, we know -- you know, we study in   

law school common law, you know, fraud, misrepresentation, reliance, etcetera. 

There’s no -- that doesn’t enter into this question of liability here.  It’s not a question 

of misrepresentation.  It’s not a question of reliance.  It’s not a question of whether

they told the truth or didn’t tell the truth.  

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  It’s a question of, well, how much did you pay these

people and how many hours did they work?  And I think Your Honor understands

that, so I’m repeating myself.  You’ve been very generous with your time this

morning, Your Honor, so I don’t want to take up more than necessary, unless 

there’s something else I can assist the Court with.

THE COURT:  No.

MR. GREENBERG:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Your Honor, I just want to reply to a few of the things  

that Mr. Greenberg stated.  I’ll start with the most recent, which has to do with      

the claims against Mr. Nady.  I think I heard an admission -- at one point it was       

a stipulation as pertains to this conspiracy theory issue.  I pointed out to the Court 
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that Mr. Greenberg keeps indicating that the defendants are trying to paint this

picture of how -- of what the plaintiffs’ case are intending to prove at trial.  That’s

why I attached the complaint that we’re using.  The wording that I’m moving for

summary judgment is right out of their complaint.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Mr. Greenberg is dancing around the issue saying, well,

no, now we’re just talking about an unjust enrichment, we’re not really talking about

these other things.  As it is, they still stand.  The civil conspiracy -- and I know that

he’s arguing, well, it’s kind of ambiguous, we really don’t know what civil conspiracy

is.  We do know what civil conspiracy is.  I briefed it.  I laid out the elements on 

page 10 of what you must show for a civil conspiracy.  They must show that each

member of the conspiracy acted in concert, came to a mutual understanding,      

had an unlawful plan.  One of them committed an overt act to further it.  There     

are specific elements.  And that was why I indicated there’s been absolutely no

evidence to support this claim.  Again, Your Honor, their complaint is attached      

as my Exhibit No. 1.  It’s their third claim for relief, which is civil conspiracy, aiding

and abetting, concert of action.  

THE COURT:  Do you happen to have a spare copy of that?  I don’t have --  

I have your motion but I don’t have the -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  The exhibits?

THE COURT:  -- the exhibits with it.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I’m sorry, I don’t, Your Honor.  The only one I have is

attached, but I can pull it out here, you know.

THE COURT:  Yeah, let’s just -- 
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MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Let me pull it out of my pleading.

THE COURT:  We might as well take a minute and look at that because    

my question is going to be, Mr. Greenberg, does that mean that at this point you

would agree to dismiss one or more claims?  If you’re going to proceed on unjust

enrichment, what I don’t know is if your claims against Mr. Nady are separated   

that way.  Do you have a separate unjust enrichment and a civil conspiracy?

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.  Unjust enrichment is pleaded as the

fourth cause of action here, okay, which I would submit is really synonymous with

this concept of the use of the corporate entity as an alter ego -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- or as an agent for that purpose, okay.  The aiding,

abetting, conspiracy claim is in the third cause of action, okay.  

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, I would -- if Your Honor is of the belief   

that there cannot be a civil conspiracy or an aiding and abetting claim, given the

configuration here of this case, okay, because again, this is not a question of there

being two independent-thinking separate defendants.

THE COURT:  It’s not a question of whether I have come to some conclusion

that means that I would essentially prohibit you from proceeding on that cause of

action anyway.  That’s not my question.  My question is are you ready to the point --

as you’ve already said, you’re going to be relying on unjust enrichment.  Does that

mean we can drop a claim here -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Well -- 

THE COURT:  -- and clean up what we’re going to trial on?
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MR. GREENBERG:  I would with one caveat, Your Honor, that the third

cause of action raises this allegation that the corporation is an alter ego of Mr. Nady. 

Is that even a separate civil claim, alter ego status?  I don’t know, Your Honor, okay. 

I believe it would be tied to this question of unjust enrichment, which is that it all

comes back to Mr. Nady personally.  It’s not a question of him conspiring or aiding

and abetting someone else’s conduct or conspiring with someone else.  

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  It’s a question of his unjust enrichment and inequitable

conduct of his control over the corporate entity.  And I would be -- 

THE COURT:  Do you have that there?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Can I take a look at it? 

MR. GREENBERG:  I would be willing to limit the claims in that fashion,  

Your Honor, because ultimately it is a question of his unjust enrichment, in my view,

based upon his misuse of the corporate form.  And I apologize that the pleading

may not be clear on this issue, but I would stipulate to the dismissal of the third

cause of action and just proceed on the unjust enrichment on the fourth cause of

action with the understanding, the caveat that to the extent that this alter ego status,

this lack of independent status of the corporate entity -- if that is a separate legal

issue and I’m not sure that it is, Your Honor -- would be encompassed within the

fourth claim for unjust enrichment.  I don’t see that a conspiracy, a civil conspiracy

claim in the conventional sense necessarily lies here, and I -- 

THE COURT:  Well, what I’m hearing you say is that insofar as the third

cause of action alleges a civil conspiracy, that you would be willing to withdraw any

29

AA005748



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

such claim.  But to the extent that the third cause of action asserts an alter ego

claim -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  -- you would keep it in there.

MR. GREENBERG:  That is correct.  I would withdraw any claims in the   

third cause of action except the alter ego claim -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- because I believe that is really the essence of the

claim against Mr. Nady is this question of misuse of the corporate form as an agent

in what is an equitable sort of remedy of the alter ego status.

THE COURT:  Well, that at least would sort of clean up what we’re headed to

trial on, except that we’re not really talking about something that would be litigated 

in this first trial anyway, are we?

MR. GREENBERG:  That is correct, Your Honor.  I don’t know that we need

to deal with this, but I’m certainly pleased to help the Court by proceeding in that

fashion as we’ve just discussed.

THE COURT:  Well, I think we need to deal with it -- well, for one thing it

causes me to ask the question which of these claims are we going to present to      

a jury now and which claims are we not going to present to the jury?

MR. GREENBERG:  It is my position, Your Honor, and consistent with the

July order on the bifurcation that the question of Mr. Nady’s personal responsibility

for anything that the company owes the drivers should not be determined at this

stage.  I mean, because that’s contingent.  

THE COURT:  Okay, but that doesn’t really address are we able to excise
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any of the causes of action themselves from the consideration of the jury in this  

first phase trial?

MR. GREENBERG:  I don’t think the jury needs to consider whether the

corporation was an alter ego of Mr. Nady or whether Mr. Nady was unjustly enriched

by the violations that are alleged, assuming the jury finds violations.

THE COURT:  So the third claim, then, would not be presented to this jury?

MR. GREENBERG:  That is correct, Your Honor.  Neither the third nor the

fourth claim.  And we would limit -- 

THE COURT:  Neither the third or the fourth claims?

MR. GREENBERG:  Right.  And we would limit the third claim simply to be

this question of an alter ego status.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I can appreciate that, Your Honor.  And it sounds, again,

although it’s not confirmed, that the civil conspiracy cause of action is being dropped

in its entirety and the only thing that we’re possibly -- 

THE COURT:  Except for alter ego out of that.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, okay, but alter ego is actually part of the fourth one

where he’s alleging unjust enrichment.  And unjust enrichment, I’m still moving for

summary judgment on that because of a couple of reasons.  

THE COURT:  Right.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Again, just because we’re bifurcating and we’re in part

two, discovery is closed, we’re done.  We’ve had our experts.  We’ve had everything

that’s going to be produced and there is no evidence to support unjust enrichment

alter ego.  First of all, unjust enrichment is a quasi-contract.  We’re talking about
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contract again, a contract cause of action, which Mr. Greenberg has already just

represented to the Court this is not a contract claim when it conveniences him.  

Now he’s going back to a contractual claim alleging unjust enrichment.  Part two    

of that is the only thing I heard from him -- 

THE COURT:  Well, let me see if I understand the first part that you said. 

You’re saying that any unjust enrichment claim is actually a contract?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Arises -- correct.  Arises from a contractual arrangement,

which we’ve argued -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  But you’re not saying that an unjust enrichment claim

necessarily requires that you first prove a breach of a contract?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  No, Your Honor.  It is a -- 

(Speaking to Mr. Wall)  Do you want to speak to this?

MR. WALL:  May I, Your Honor, just briefly on that?

THE COURT:  Yes.

MR. WALL:  The term unjust enrichment gets bandied about as though if

somebody gets unjustly enriched there’s a cause of action.  There’s no such tort

cause of action.  It’s quasi-contract.  It exists when there should be a contract -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. WALL:  -- that we imply -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. WALL:  -- and you have to prove a breach of that contract.  That’s the

only recognized claim for unjust enrichment in Nevada.

THE COURT:  All right.  So based on that, we’re not looking at saying -- 

we’re not limiting -- the fact that the defendant is not alleging an actual breach of 
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the contract, of the written contract or of a contract does not preclude the plaintif f

from proceeding on alter ego -- no, I’m sorry, on unjust enrichment.  I don’t know    

if I clarified anything with that.  Let’s go back to -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Okay.

THE COURT:  Let’s go back to that the -- well, to address your argument -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Uh-huh.

THE COURT:  -- that if -- based on what’s just been said that there could be

no unjust enrichment claim against Mr. Nady personally -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Right. 

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Right.  The only argument I heard from plaintiff, again,

with no evidence to support it, but his only argument in support of that is that Mr.

Nady was an involved owner, the sole decision maker in the company.  That is not

enough to do what plaintiffs are wanting to do with that, which is basically to pierce

the corporate veil.  And they are looking beyond satisfaction of a judgment.  They’re

throwing out all kinds of things in their response, saying, oh, the company may not

be able to satisfy the judgment, they might declare bankruptcy, we need to have  

Mr. Nady as a back-up.  What they’ve presented thus far is not sufficient to pierce

the corporate veil or to argue this alter ego or this unjust enrichment at this point,

and we’re at the point where we’re within 30 days of trial.  Granted that the Court   

is not going to hear those first set of issues -- 

THE COURT:  Correct.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- but I would expect or envision that when we finish   

part one we’re going to go into part two because the Court did not authorize, again,
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a whole reopening, now let’s start proving these causes of action of alter ego and

unjust enrichment.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  So I think at this stage the Court, with the plaintiff failing

to come forward with anything to support that, should dismiss Mr. Nady entirely from

this action.  There is nothing to allow them to pierce the corporate veil or to argue

unjust enrichment or alter ego at this stage.

THE COURT:  I would resist the invitation to dismiss those claims at this

point.  I would not do so, you know, with prejudice.  I think that in order to really rule

on that motion it is -- it would be very instructive or useful or helpful to the Court to

arrive at the proper decision to have the first phase of the trial done and away and

then be able to look and see if  with what remains is there a claim that they could  

go forward on.  So I would deny that part without prejudice.

Okay, anything more on the rest of the argument?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Yes, Your Honor.  On the punitive damages claim the

complaint in this matter, as the Court is aware, was filed back in October of 2010,

claiming -- making a claim for punitive damages.  The only thing I heard from the

plaintiffs in support of that claim for punitive damages was their argument that

A Cab ignored a Court ruling three years later in 2013 when the issue was on

appeal.  Mr. Greenberg argued to the Court, saying that in itself should allow

punitive damages to go forward.  That’s not the basis of this complaint and that’s    

a stretch to say because A Cab was waiting on guidance in the Thomas decision

from the supreme court for that to support punitive damages, and that’s the only

thing they’ve come forward with other than the fraud claims.  
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So I would ask the Court to consider the punitives as a dismissal. 

There’s -- everything that we’ve shown has been that A Cab -- I think it’s undisputed

A Cab was making efforts to subsidize the minimum wage.  There was no intent     

to maliciously deprive the drivers.  The records that have all been produced show

that there is a minimum wage subsidy.  There was efforts to do an appropriate

calculation, so there’s not a malicious intent to defraud the drivers.  

What I heard Mr. Greenberg say, and this kind of goes into the last

point, what he indicated he was going to put on the stand, if I’m understanding him

correctly, is the plaintiff saying this is what I got paid, but I wasn’t paid for all of my

hours.  I’m alleging I worked 12 hours and defendants are alleging that I worked 

less than that.  And, yes, we’re going to put the trip sheets into evidence to say, 

well, didn’t you basically sign off that you only worked 8 hours and your documented

proof shows 8 hours?  So the trip sheets are going to come into evidence.  That’s

the plan.  But if the Court would read into that, what we just heard from Mr.

Greenberg is this is an admission that this is not a minimum wage claim.  This is   

an hours worked claim.

And the last point I would point out to the Court is the East Texas

case, as well as the Wal-Mart case -- 

THE COURT:  Before we move on to that, how does a claim that -- you just

called it an hours worked claim, is that what -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Unpaid hours.

THE COURT:  Unpaid hours.  How is that different from a minimum wage

claim in the circumstance where their theory is that they don’t dispute or contest

what the amount was they were paid, they dispute or contest the number of hours
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worked, which means if they prove the hours worked then you do have unpaid

wages, do you not?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I think they’re two separate things, Your Honor.  A

minimum wage claim, as we are seeing with some of the other ones that are on-

going in the state and federal courts, are a circumstance where the driver is simply

getting paid $5.00 an hour instead of 7.25 or 8.25 and the employer is deliberately

not paying the minimum wage.  That’s not the case here.  All of the records show

that A Cab was subsidizing to bring the driver up to 7.25 or 8.25 where appropriate.  

The plaintiffs’ theory in this is that it wasn’t enough because there’s

some fraud in there where whatever A Cab was relying upon to calculate the hours

to come up with the subsidy, there was a mistake in the hours somewhere, whether

it’s the drivers writing in breaks that they didn’t take or the company forcing the

drivers to write in breaks, telling them you have to write in breaks.  Even though you

worked 12 hours, you need to say and sign that you only worked 10 hours.  So what

the drivers are alleging is I worked an additional 2 hours at 7.25 or 8.25 that I’m  not

being paid for and I want those hours.  And they should have gone to the Labor

Commissioner.  

And one other thing that I would mention about that because Mr.

Greenberg is saying, well, this is an impossibility, you’re putting this burden upon the

plaintiffs to, you know, look at the documents and figure out what each driver was

owed.  Every driver, every one of his clients is entitled to their documents by law.    

If you want your personnel record, you go to A Cab, you go to any employer and

they have to turn over all your payroll records, your personnel file, your trip sheets. 

A Cab has always made those available and we turned those over immediately
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pertaining to their representative plaintiffs.  We turned them over for everybody,

actually.  They just didn’t look at them.  There’s over 300,000 of documents

available if any one of those individual people wanted to look at what was I actually

paid, what do I think I’m owed.  

And going back to the beginning of this case, Your Honor, when I took

the depositions of their plaintiffs, nobody said anything about minimum wage.  They

were complaining I wasn’t paid for a radio call, I was shorted because of my drop

shorts.  You know, I think I should have made more money at A Cab because I was

making more money at Frias.  There was a whole variety of samples that Mr. Murray

and Mr. Reno were claiming.  But nobody ever said anything about minimum wage. 

And what Mr. Greenberg has just said, it sounds like they’re still not even going to

say anything about minimum wage.  They’re going to say, you know, this bad

employer forced me to write in breaks that I didn’t take.  And that’s what this case is

going to be about.  That’s what’s going to be tried before the jury, is do they believe

the driver or do they believe A Cab, that A Cab is forcing them to write in breaks 

that they didn’t take.  

So, that’s my last point is that the Wal-Mart case and the East Texas

case that Mr. Greenberg was talking about, I cited to those because they do support

that you must have typicality from a class representative because Mr. Greenberg

was talking about typicality and why it’s important to have a representative from that

time period.  I’m trying to find, with Your Honor’s indulgence to give me -- I’ve got 

my papers all in a mess here.  But there was one other area I wanted to mention.    

I think it’s page 11 of my motion, I hope.

THE COURT:  Baldridge?  That’s on page 11.  Deposition of the plaintiff.  
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MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Give me one second, Your Honor.  There’s a couple of

cases here that the courts were very clear about -- 

THE COURT:  Teflon.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- that a theory -- a theory of -- such as what Mr.

Greenberg is asserting is not enough to support class action when there is

individualized analysis that is required.  And I think it’s become more and more 

clear that that’s what we have here is an individualized analysis of the hours, the

shifts, the health insurance, the number of dependents.  All of that needs to be

taken into consideration when determining whether a claimant has been underpaid

at minimum age or not.  (I think I was looking at the wrong motion).

THE COURT:  At the wrong motion, did you say?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Yeah, my wrong motion.  Here it is.  It’s page 11 of my

motion, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  “The presence of a common legal theory” -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- does not establish typicality for class certification

purposes when proof of a violation requires individualized inquiry.”  This is that 

In re Teflon Products liability litigation.  And also Your Honor was correct, the

Baldridge case.  And that’s what we have here is individualized inquiry as to each

claimant’s claim for damages that in reality will have to be analyzed in order to

determine what their claim damages, if any, exist.

I don’t have anything further, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay, thank you.
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MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Some of these are -- it’s not so much they’re close calls, they

just require an analysis of a difficult topic when we apply these causes of action to

facts such as this.  The best I can do is this.  As to the failure to provide -- to prove

any liability or damages, I would deny the motion as to that.  As to no representative

plaintiff, I would deny it as to that.  I believe that there is sufficient authority, albeit

predominantly federal authority, that would seem to indicate that they don’t have   

to have all the same time period, as long as there is still typicality and commonality.

As to the dismissal of punitive damages, I would deny that on the basis that this     

is a deprivation of a constitutional right claim and that the wording of that provision

does not preclude punitive damages.  

Anyway, so as to the dismissal of claims against Mr. Nady personally,

I’ve already sort of adverted to that.  I think it’s appropriate to wait and see what

happens with this trial before trying to address dismissal of the claims against Mr.

Nady personally.  Nor would I decertify the class on the basis that it’s fraud, and you

can’t do a class action for a fraud claim because I am satisfied that Mr. Greenberg

has demonstrated that the essential evidence at trial is not going to be about fraud

but about the claims that their constitutional rights were deprived, that they were not

paid the minimum wage when you do the calculation of how much they were paid

and how many hours they worked.  It’s not an easy decision for me, but I think that’s

the best I can do.  

Mr. Greenberg, you will prepare the order and pass it by counsel.

MR. GREENBERG:  I will get to that.  I hope if not this week, on Monday,

Your Honor -- 
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THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- because we don’t have a lot of time.  I appreciate that.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Your Honor, do we have a -- I thought we had a

stipulation at least on the civil conspiracy issue.  Is Your Honor still holding that one

in abeyance?

THE COURT:  Well, yeah, that’s a good point.  To the extent that the third

cause of action alleges anything beyond alter ego, that part of the motion to dismiss

against Mr. Nady would be granted.  The Court will not dismiss, however, the third

claim insofar as it alleges only an alter ego cause of action.

MR. GREENBERG:  That is fine, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  That’s consistent with my representation to the Court.

THE COURT:  Now, I need -- before you leave, I need to know something.

(The Court confers with the clerk)

THE COURT:  Mr. Greenberg, you indicated that the Court has not ruled on

the partial summary judgment motion?

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.  We had some extensive argument

with you about this last month and a conclusion you had from the bench indicated  

a finding of liability being established, but it wasn’t clear what that meant because

liability in the context of a partial summary judgment motion meant a finding that

those payroll records established a certain number of hours worked and therefore  

a certain amount of wages owed based on those hours worked.  And you needed  

to consider this further because in essence in a case like this, Your Honor, liability

and damages are intertwined.  If you haven’t paid for the hours, then you’re liable
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and you’re also liable -- 

THE COURT:  Hold on just one second.

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes.

THE COURT:  We’re printing it now to see if this -- because I thought I had

already tried not to drag this consideration out; try and get it done.  My crack staff  

is producing it for us right now.  

MR. GREENBERG:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  It’s a minute order of December 14th.  Are you familiar with

that?  

MR. GREENBERG:  I don’t know.

THE COURT:  Let me get you to take a look at it and see if  that still leaves

open the issue you’re talking about or if that represents the ruling on it.

Are you familiar with that, December 14th?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I don’t think so, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Can you pump out another one?  A couple more.

THE CLERK:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  This -- yeah.  Your Honor, is it possible I could just

briefly address this?  I have not seen this before, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  It does resolve the issue, does it not?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, it leaves it where -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Can I have a chance to see it before he addresses it?

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  Hang on one second.
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MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, let me wait.

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Goldberg -- sorry -- Mr. Greenberg.

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.  It’s really the last two lines here

dealing with -- and this is where we left this when we saw you on December 14th,

Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

MR. GREENBERG:  You said you believed that we had established,

plaintiffs, that there was no material issue of fact and that liability was established. 

My question to you at that point, well, was liability for what?  And you said you were

going to consider this further because as I was explaining to you a few minutes ago,

Your Honor, the claim was that approximately 172 or 177 thousand dollars was

owed -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- at 7.25 an hour, based on defendants’ records, which

defendants assert are fully accurate records.  And we submitted, you know, a pay

period by pay period analysis.  It ran about 600 pages for something like 12,000 

pay periods for 500 class members or whatever it was.  I actually have a copy of 

the papers here, Your Honor, and it established that this amount was owed.  So if

liability is established based upon the records, then the amount is also established,

is what I’m trying to communicate to Your Honor.  I mean, I don’t know what we

would be trying as to that issue if we’ve shown that there’s no disputed issue of fact

that, well, these are the records for this period.  The parties agree this was what

these people were paid or there’s no material issue that these people were paid  

this much and there’s -- 
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THE COURT:  You don’t want to dress it up with some expert that did the

calculations and says that if liability is established this is what the number is?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor -- Your Honor declined to invalidate

the regulation which would have applied an 8.25 an hour rate.  You declined to

place the burden as to the health insurance on the def endants.  That was very clear. 

We left on the 14th of December knowing that, okay.  The issue, though, was that,

again, you had found that -- you were saying that we had established that there  

was liability.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  And there’s at least $174,839 that are owed that is at

least $10 to each of the class members specified in the motion for partial summary

judgment.  That’s at the 7.25 an hour rate.  That was what there’s no material issue

of fact that was established based upon the records, Your Honor.  So if we’ve

established the liability based on those records, based upon defendants’ admission

that those hours of work are accurate and the parties’ agreement that the records

reflect what people were actually paid and Your Honor’s finding that there’s no

material issue of fact, then we should have a finding.  I mean, we had discussed

having immediate judgment entered for that amount on December 14th, but if Your

Honor would defer entry of judgment, then that’s fine, okay.  But my question is,     

is this question resolved?

THE COURT:  What is the -- I don’t know if you called it an admission, but

the agreement with the defendants or by the defendants that there is no -- what 

was that part you said?  You don’t contest the calculation itself.

MR. GREENBERG:  The defendants’ expert did not contest the calculation 
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at his deposition.  They did not in their opposition to the partial summary judgment

point to a single payroll period that was analyzed that was in error.  They contested

the application of the 8.25 an hour rate and Your Honor denied any application of

the 8.25 an hour rate in connection with the motion.  So the only portion of the

motion that we established under Your Honor’s finding was the amount owed at

7.25.  And as I’ve explained before, Your Honor, this is really owed because they

were applying this tip credit for this 15-month period when they shouldn’t have been

doing it.  

So I would ask the Court to allow entry of a determination.  Again, it

doesn’t have to -- if Your Honor doesn’t wish to enter an immediate judgment, that’s

Your Honor’s discretion.  I don’t want to argue the merits of that with the Court. 

You’ve been very patient with us today.  I mean, I think that would be appropriate,

but if Your Honor is going to defer entering any judgment until final judgment in the

case in its entirety, that’s your decision to make, Your Honor.  I would just ask the

Court to make the finding that the $175,839 is owed to the identified class members. 

There are 319 class members.  They’re owed at least $10, okay.  If they’re owed

less than $10 it would be de minimis and we don’t need to be bothered with it.         

I would ask that be incorporated into Your Honor’s order because that is what   

Your Honor found.

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  I don’t understand how we could have a finding of

liability without that attendant finding as to what the liability was for, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Well, let me ask Ms. Rodriguez, do you -- is any of your

evidence going to contest the calculation itself?
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MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Absolutely, Your Honor.  We argued this extensively.  

We were here a couple hours.  I think Your Honor gave us an hour and a half.  So

I’m not really sure -- one, I’m objecting because this isn’t on calendar this morning. 

Two, he’s arguing for reconsideration of what we’ve already argued,  This is the 

third time that we’re here.  We have our experts contesting the calculations.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So they contest the actual -- I’m not talking about -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Right.

THE COURT:  -- liability -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Right.

THE COURT:  -- but they contest the actual calculation -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Absolutely.

THE COURT:  --  of the damages?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Absolutely.  And I asked -- 

THE COURT:  What do they contest?  What do they -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  They -- my expert is the only one who did testing

comparing the calculations, the tool that they produced with actual review of the trip

sheets and the paystubs and, you know, looking at the actual data and showed this

is where it’s wrong, this is where it’s wrong.  We had Mr. Greenberg come in this

morning and say the majority of the drivers are not even owed anything.  Now he’s

saying, well, they’re owed at least $10.  So -- and Your Honor considered this the

last time and said no, this is what needs to go before the jury; I can’t just pick some

random number.

THE COURT:  That’s what I had in mind, Mr. Greenberg, that just because

the Court says there is liability, you still do have a necessary step to calculate the
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damages.  And if the defendants are going to say you can’t -- the calculation is

wrong.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, they haven’t said that.  That’s the problem

is in their opposition in the record in response to the partial summary judgment

motion they say their expert says you should look at the trip sheets, okay.  We’re

looking at the payroll records.  The partial summary judgment motion is based on

the payroll records.  Defendants testified at their 30(b)(6) deposition the payroll

records for 2013 to 2015 -- 

THE COURT:  So, Ms. Rodriguez, are you saying that the impact or import 

of the testimony you would produce or evidence you would produce is that you have

to use the trip sheets in order to arrive at -- in other words, you can’t rely -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Right.

THE COURT:  -- on -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  The tool.

THE COURT:  -- the evidence which was turned over from the defendants   

to the plaintiffs as a way to calculate the damages?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, that’s one part of it, Your Honor.  One, we are

arguing you need to look at the source documents rather than this abstract tool    

for the appropriate calculation.

THE COURT:  How can I let you still make that argument if I have essentially

said that they are entitled to rely upon the evidence produced by the defendant in

the form of -- you’re going to have to help me out.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  The QuickBooks records, Your Honor.
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THE COURT:  I’m sorry?

MR. GREENBERG:  The QuickBooks records.

THE COURT:  The QuickBooks records.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  That was always our argument was that what we were

ordered, what A Cab was ordered to produce by the Discovery Commissioner was

nothing that was kept in the normal course, and it was pieces of data that Mr.

Greenberg specifically wanted.  He wanted certain parts of the data and then -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  But didn’t -- wasn’t that argument overruled?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  No, Your Honor, it wasn’t.  Your Honor agreed with it.  If

you’re talking about the Court, or are you talking about the Discovery Commissioner?

THE COURT:  The Discovery Commissioner.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Yes.  She said you have to give him what he wants.   

You have to go back and you have to produce all this, the different sets, Excel

spreadsheets and things like that.  We gave that to him.  He’s used certain portions. 

By his own expert’s admissions they’ve only used certain portions.  They’ve ignored

other portions to come up with their own figures.

THE COURT:  Certain portions of the QuickBooks?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Yes.  So -- 

THE COURT:  What have they -- and let’s make it to -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Hours.  The big question is hours.

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  That’s where the big dispute is.

THE COURT:  And they -- what else in the QuickBooks have they ignored?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I can’t tell you off the top of my head, Your Honor.  Again,
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I wasn’t prepare to re-argue this.  I can go back and look at my notes from -- because

I know I have a very large stack from the last time we were here.

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  But one thing that I would mention, Your Honor, and I was

going to ask the Court when our motions in limine are actually set because I do have

motions on these particular issues, on both Dr. Clauretie’s opinions and Mr. Bass’

opinions as to whether they’re even proper for consideration because whether they’re

proper -- and this is what we argued the last time, whether the Court will deem them

admissible or not, admissible evidence.  He has to have admissible evidence for you

to rule in his favor on summary judgment that he’s asking you to jump over and rule

again this morning.  So, I -- 

THE CLERK:  The motions in limine?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Yes, ma’am.

THE CLERK:  The 23rd.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  The 23rd of January.  And we have our pretrial and

calendar call on the 18th?  Because I was going to ask Your Honor what all you

expect us to bring at that -- what the expectation is for our calendar call on the 18th.

THE COURT:  What’s our trial date, then?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  February 5th.

THE COURT:  Well, it’s certainly not an ideal way, but I don’t really want to

change the timing of those.  If we have -- if you come to calendar call and we set  

the -- you know, we -- is it a fixed date?  Is it a set date?  

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Yes.  February 5th.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So we know that it’s going to go forward.
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MS. RODRIGUEZ:  The trial date.

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  For the stack, Your Honor.  Yes.

THE CLERK:  It’s just on the stack.

THE COURT:  All right.  So the only thing that’s subject to is whatever

happens as a result of your motions in limine and what the impact of that is, which

will have to be sorted out completely before we start this trial.  Nothing in this case

seems to go according to the norm.

MR. GREENBERG:  I understand, Your Honor.  If I could -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah, go ahead.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, in respect to the issue of the calculations

that were presented, the $174,000 or so I was mentioning to Your Honor in the

partial summary judgment motion, again, defendants’ expert reviewed the data that

was compiled -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- and summarized from the QuickBooks.  His testimony

was:  “Dr. Clauretie’s review of the math I think is good.”  Okay.  He examined the

spreadsheet, he examined the A Cab all file, the payroll analysis that was done.    

It’s in the record before the Court.

THE COURT:  I think we’re talking about apples and oranges.  When I say   

to Ms. Rodriguez, do you contest the calculation, she goes back to, yes, we think 

you have to use the trip sheets.  But what I really meant by that -- you’re talking just

calculation of the math and you’re saying, look, there’s no contrary evidence, and     

I think as to that you’re probably correct.
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MR. GREENBERG:  Well, Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  So what I think is missing in all this is the impact of my ruling

because I think that essentially what I’m saying is that the defendant -- I mean, the

plaintiff is entitled to rely upon for the calculation of damages the QuickBooks that

were produced by the defendant.  I understand that the defendant believes that the

trip sheets must be consulted, but in this kind of a case I think that it is appropriate

where you have a Discovery Commissioner that has ordered you to produce what 

the records -- you know, a compilation of what the records indicate is the calculation,

is the math, is the numbers.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  But the only thing in the QuickBooks, Your Honor, is the

pay.  That’s why we come back to when you actually test the source documents,  

test the trip sheets like our expert did, then you show there was an adequate -- this

subsidy was enough to meet the driver -- to meet the driver’s pay.

THE COURT:  But isn’t the QuickBooks -- the pay is dependent upon the

hours that are also used in the calculation, is it not?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  From the trip sheets.

MR. GREENBERG:  For 2013 through 2015, the QuickBooks records hours

worked for each driver for every two week pay period.  This is documented in the

presentation to the Court.  It is in the spreadsheet that was relied upon and it was

reviewed by defendants’ expert, Your Honor.  So the hours for this period are in the

QuickBooks records, along with the compensation that was paid every pay period,

Your Honor.  So the calculation flows as a matter of course, therefore, Your Honor.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  And his reference to our expert saying, yes, the math is

right, this was after asking the question ten times and it was a very limited admission. 
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He basically asked the expert, well, if you use A and you use B, isn’t it true that that

will come up with C?  And what Mr. Leslie ended up saying was, well, yeah, if you

use those factors one plus one is going to equal two.  The math was right using the

source that Mr. Greenberg was using.  But what Mr. Leslie said was, but no, if you

actually look at reality rather than theory, the numbers don’t add up.  The numbers

are not right.  And I will give you specific examples, which his experts did not.        

His experts never looked at a source document to come up with their numbers. 

Everything is a theory.  It’s an estimate, by their own admissions.  Our expert looked

at actual documents, did a calculation, came up with different numbers entirely,   

and Your Honor considered this.

THE COURT:  Then why weren’t those different numbers used for the

calculation, for the math calculation that was in the QuickBooks?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  The QuickBooks don’t -- you have to go to the trip sheets

to actually look at the breaks, to actually look at the actual hours, and those

documents are there.  Those documents -- 

THE COURT:  Well, here’s what I’m asking you.  

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  They were used for the QuickBooks.  They were used 

for the QuickBooks, Your Honor.  I know what you’re asking me.  I’m trying to

answer it -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- because I can see what you’re picturing.  But that’s

why I’m saying the QuickBooks are only -- 

THE COURT:  I’m picturing that if you produce something that is in response

to a discovery request that says -- 
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MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Uh-huh.

THE COURT:  -- based on the documents we have here’s the calculation    

of the hours and here’s the calculation of the hourly wage.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  No.  What we gave per order and in compliance with

what the Discovery Commissioner ordered, she ordered an external hard drive       

to contain all of those trip sheets and turn that over to -- we had them all copied,

thousands and thousands of PDFs onto an external hard drive, the actual source

documents as well as the paystubs, give those to Mr. Greenberg.  We gave those 

to Mr. Greenberg.  Then he wanted other things, and actually the timing was the

other way around.  First he wanted the QuickBooks’ pay rather than the paystubs. 

We gave to him in electronic format.  Then we came back and gave him the paper

documents.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  None of that changes the fact that this was a

QuickBooks document analysis -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Uh-huh.

THE COURT:  -- that came from the defendants to the plaintiffs -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Right.

THE COURT:  -- that included hours worked and the pay.

MR. NADY:  No.

THE COURT:  No?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  No.  That’s what I’m telling you, Your Honor.  That does

not have -- 

MR. NADY:  It says when they came and when they left.

THE COURT:  Well, Mr. Greenberg, does it include the hours worked or not?
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MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, it did, and this was briefed.  I can read   

you Mr. Nady’s deposition testimony that was part of -- it was part of the motion    

for summary judgment.  Mr. Nady testified -- 

THE COURT:  I assume this whole thing comes out in a spreadsheet.

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, yes, Your Honor.  That was ultimately what was

processed and provided because we -- 

THE COURT:  And one of the columns is the hours worked?

MR. GREENBERG:  That is correct, Your Honor.  There was a figure that

was kept every payroll period that was minimum -- 

THE COURT:  And that hours worked column was information supplied by

the defendant?

MR. GREENBERG:  It was supplied by the defendant.  And Mr. Nady testified

that that information was more accurate than the trip sheets.  Quote:  “W hile the trip

sheets didn’t reflect when they came in and dinked around five or ten minutes or

when they came in and dinked around for five minutes.”

THE COURT:  Well -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  We put that time -- he was testifying that we put that

extra time into those payroll records from 2013 to 2015.

THE COURT:  What is the effect of that, then?

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, according to Mr. Nady’s testimony -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  It’s different.

THE COURT:  Here’s what I -- let me finish.

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes.

THE COURT:  What is the effect of them giving you a document that purports
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to be something that includes the hours worked and the pay -- you know, what the

resulting pay is?

MR. GREENBERG:  The effect is they’re bound by it because they never

disputed that it was accurate, Your Honor.  Under oath they asserted that it was

accurate.

THE COURT:  What authority do you rely on to say they’re bound by it?      

In other words, here’s what I’m getting at.  Is there still room in this trial for them    

to dispute that, the accuracy?  

MR. GREENBERG:  No, there isn’t, Your Honor.  They produced a 30(b)(6)

witness who was specifically instructed to testify as to the accuracy of these records. 

He testified that they were accurate.  He testified they were more accurate than the

trip sheets in terms of what they recorded as to the hours worked.  In opposition -- 

THE COURT:  Then why would we allow -- why would we allow countervailing

testimony?  Why would we allow countervailing testimony?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  He’s taking that completely out of context, Your Honor,

and I can pull multiple transcripts before the Discovery Commissioner where we

went before the Discovery Commissioner with Mr. Nady even present, indicating  

the source documents show the hours, show the start times, show what he just

mentioned about the drivers showing up ahead of time, they get an extra six

minutes, the break times.  All of that has to be reviewed right out of the source

documents.  And we told the Discovery Commissioner this way back when and she

still ordered the production over to Mr. Greenberg of the electronic data that does

not capture all of that information.  And she cautioned him as well to be careful      

on how he was going to use that because this is where we’re at.  He’s picked and
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chosen certain parts to advocate that this is the proper number.  But that’s why    

we got an expert -- 

THE COURT:  You’re saying that -- 

 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- to say no, this is not the proper number.

THE COURT:  You’re saying that he has taken the material, and this was in

what, on a hard drive?  The QuickBooks spreadsheet was what?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Uh, it’s been in a number of fashions because it’s so big.

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  We’ve had to do like drop files.

THE COURT:  So he took -- you’re saying he took that and although it said --

when you gave it to him -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Uh-huh.

THE COURT:  -- it had certain -- for a given individual a certain number of

hours worked.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Uh-huh.

THE COURT:  That he changed those hours?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Oh, I don’t know if he changed those hours, Your Honor,

because what his experts, who created the document said, was that they just

plugged in hours as instructed by Mr. Greenberg, okay.  And that’s why I -- and         

I cited to their deposition.  That’s why I’m referencing my hearing on the motions     

in limine because the actual tool itself, the spreadsheet, what they’re calling a tool   

is unreliable.  It should never even come into this case, into this trial.  And that’s

what they’re relying upon for summary judgment.  That’s why we hired an expert    

to show -- 
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THE COURT:  Who has the legal obligation to keep those records?

MR. GREENBERG:  The defendant, Your Honor.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  The defendant has those records, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Well -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  And again, I need to come back to this because he made

a representation to the Court that the employer was admonished by, you know,

federal agencies for not keeping records.  That’s absolutely not true.  We go back   

to the -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, I don’t -- right now I don’t care about that. That’s

not the issue.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Okay.  Well, it’s not true.  The records are there.

THE COURT:  The question in my mind right now is whether or not you 

would be precluded from bringing at trial evidence to dispute the accuracy of the -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Abso-- 

THE COURT:  Just a minute.  The accuracy of the hours worked if it is true

that that is in a document that you gave to the defense -- I mean, to the plaintiff -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Uh-huh.

THE COURT:  -- in response to a request for that.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Uh-huh.

THE COURT:  And if you have testimony from Mr. Nady -- if you do, that -- 

I mean, you know -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Uh-huh.

THE COURT:  -- this is assuming this -- testimony that that is more accurate

than the trip sheets.
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MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  If that’s the case, then the question in my mind is do you even

get to put on countervailing testimony?

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, Your Honor, from day one I, as their representative,

as well as Mr. Nady, have come into this court and come repeatedly before the

Discovery Commissioner, repeatedly over and over and over saying the trip sheets

are the most reliable document that capture hours.  We’ve never said anything to  

the contrary.  It’s Mr. Greenberg who is always wanting to rely on this electronic

manipulation, for lack of a better term.  The Discovery Commissioner said I don’t 

like you using the word manipulation because I kept telling her that, that he was

manipulating numbers to come up with a final number and it wasn’t necessarily 

what was captured in the normal business course.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, this was all documented in the record on

the partial summary judgment.  Your Honor arrived at a finding that there were no

material issues in dispute sufficient for plaintiff to establish -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  And the reason -- part of the reason for that is the

belief that if this is a document, a product, a piece of evidence produced from      

the defense to the plaintiff purporting to be the hours worked and the calculation

therefrom -- 

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Right.

THE COURT:  -- then I didn’t see how there could be, then, a factual dispute.

MR. GREENBERG:  There isn’t.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Your Honor, and that’s what -- you know, Mr. Wall was

redirecting -- I guess I’m missing the focus of your question, so let me clarify and
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maybe he may want to speak to this because I missed the actual question.          

No, the defendants did not purport that.  We were ordered to produce a certain

amount of information.  And I’ve said the opposite.  We’ve never said that those  

are the accurate representation of the pay -- or, excuse me, of the hours.

THE COURT:  Well, he’s claiming that Nady said that in his deposition.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, no, Nady didn’t say that.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor -- 

THE COURT:  You got that handy?

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes.  Yes, I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right, here’s what I want.  

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes.

THE COURT:  I want you to submit to me that deposition.  I don’t want to   

go hunt it up.  

MR. GREENBERG:  Of course.

THE COURT:  The portion where he says that it’s more accurate than the 

trip sheets.  

MR. GREENBERG:  Okay.

THE COURT:  I want any authorities from either of you about how we’re to

handle that issue at trial.  Is it something where the -- that plaintiff is correct that you

can’t dispute at trial the mathematical accuracy because you don’t have witnesses

who will, if your expert says the math is correct and if Mr. Nady says that that’s

accurate, that that’s more accurate than the trip sheets.

Secondarily, if you have that do you get to present countervailing

evidence or is that -- or should the order on this motion be that since you do not
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have any evidence that the math is wrong, that the motion itself is granted, partial

summary judgment for the lesser amount and that issue is removed from trial?

That’s what I need from both of you, authorities on how we’re to handle that at trial. 

Is that a done deal or can the defendant come in and contest the accuracy of the

product that they submitted?  I need the Discovery Commissioner’s order in order  

to know whether that order is -- leads to the conclusion that this was accurate or

whether it was clouded, as the defendant indicates, that they never agreed that it

would be an accurate accounting.  

MR. GREENBERG:  Okay.  Your Honor, this was all addressed in the briefs

that were submitted.  If your law clerk were to review them -- 

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- I’m sure they could -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  If you’re content to rest on that, that’s f ine, we’ll do that. 

I will take a look at it.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I would like to submit, Your Honor, because I would like

to pull the Discovery Commissioner’s orders and transcripts and our representations

repeatedly about this information.  I think it’s important based on the Court’s

inclination to not allow the defendant to dispute this because I thought we went

through all of this the last time and the Court was persuaded this was an issue for

the jury, and so I’m not really sure why we’re back to square one.

THE COURT:  It may be -- it may still be, but it may be that there’s a jury

instruction that says that this -- the jury may take this as an admission by the

defendant, and yet still allow you to put on some evidence as to the calculation,  

that it’s an inaccurate calculation.  I have to do something to figure out what do you
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do with a document that purports to be --

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Uh-huh.

THE COURT:  -- produced by the defense in response to this order and

purports to be, if Mr. Greenberg is correct, by Mr. Nady that this is more accurate.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Would Your Honor be inclined to hear this at the same

time as our motions in limine issue because they go hand in hand -- 

THE COURT:  No.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  -- with the problem with his expert’s calculations.  It’s   

the very same question.

THE COURT:  No.  If you want to get something to me, you need to do it in

very short order and I need to get this resolved.  We’re not getting issues that must

be resolved in order for both sides to prepare for trial and the Court to prepare for

trial.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  But, Your Honor, his whole tool was created by these two

experts and there’s some major problems with these two experts.  And that’s what

the Court is going to hear on the 23rd, I believe.  That’s why I’m arguing that they’re

the same.

THE COURT:  Well, there’s nothing that says that whatever I decide, based

on the authorities that you’re going to give me and that I already have from Mr.

Greenberg, could still be subject to whatever the Court decides on the 23rd if the --

No, I take it back.  You’re right.  It would be better to simply resolve it on the 23rd.

MR. GREENBERG:  We then should be prepared to address it at that time. 

And I think Your Honor is correct, there are two fundamental issues here.  Is the

information provided accurate for making a resolution before the Court and are the
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calculations based on that information in fact undisputed.  So -- and I think Your

Honor needs to examine those -- 

THE COURT:  Well, and I think probably an important issue is whether it was

purported to be accurate.

MR. GREENBERG:  Well, right.  Is it in fact something that should bind the

parties here -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- and are the calculations made on that information

accurate?  I think Your Honor understands -- 

THE COURT:  Well, either to bind or at least to be admissible with some sort

of instruction that indicates that when you have an order out of the Court to do this

and you produce that, it’s an admission.

MR. GREENBERG:  Your Honor, the issues you were raising are addressed

at pages 3 to 5 and 10 to 11 of the reply on the partial summary judgment -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  -- if that would assist your clerk.  Those are the pages

where you will find the discussion as to the corroboration of  the records’ authenticity

and the correctness of the calculations that were presented that we were discussing.

THE COURT:  Okay.  I would still like to get anything you’re going to submit

in short order.

MR. GREENBERG:  Okay.  We will be prepared to address this, you said   

on the 22nd, is that it?

THE COURT:  23rd.

MR. GREENBERG:  The 23rd.  Okay.  When would Your Honor like -- 
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THE COURT:  But I don’t -- yeah, I don’t want to wait ‘til then -- 

MR. GREENBERG:  Yes.

THE COURT:  -- to get the authorities.

MR. GREENBERG:  When would Your Honor like to have anything submitted

in connection with this?

THE COURT:  I think probably a week should do it.

MR. GREENBERG:  So that would be by the 20th, we’ll say.  Okay.

THE COURT:  No.  No, no.  A week.

MR. GREENBERG:  Not by the 20th.  I apologize.  The 17th.

THE COURT:  No.  A week from now.

THE CLERK:  One week is the 9th.

MR. GREENBERG:  A week from now.  Oh, okay, I understand.  The 9th. 

That’s fine, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  A week from now any additional authorities you’re

going to submit.

MR. GREENBERG:  We will -- 

THE COURT:  And I’m not asking for a complete rehash.  Based on what I’ve

said, I think you know where I’m going and the question I need to know is for some

reason is there not a record -- something in the record to warrant such -- (inaudible).

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Uh-huh.  I will, Your Honor.

MR. GREENBERG:  I will have something submitted on the 9th.  I will try to

keep it brief, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  Thank you, Your Honor.
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THE COURT:  Thank you.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT:  You’re going to do the order from today.

MR. GREENBERG:  I will, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GREENBERG:  And I should have it circulated to defense counsel no

later than Monday.

THE COURT:  Very good.

MR. GREENBERG:  Thank you, Your Honor.

MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

(PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 12:04 P.M.)

* * * * * *

ATTEST:  I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the
audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my ability.

__________________________
Liz Garcia, Transcriber
LGM Transcription Service

63

AA005782



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

R
od

ri
gu

ez
 L

aw
 O

ff
ic

es
, P

.C
.

10
16

1 
P

ar
k 

R
un

 D
ri

ve
, S

ui
te

 1
50

L
as

 V
eg

as
, N

ev
ad

a 
89

14
5

T
el

 (
70

2)
 3

20
-8

40
0

F
ax

 (
70

2)
 3

20
-8

40
1

SUPP
Esther C. Rodriguez, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 6473
RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P.C.
10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
702-320-8400
info@rodriguezlaw.com 

Michael K. Wall, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 2098
Hutchinson & Steffen, LLC
10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
702-385-2500
mwall@hutchlegal.com 
Attorneys for Defendants

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

MICHAEL MURRAY and MICHAEL RENO,
Individually and on behalf of others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

A CAB TAXI SERVICE LLC and A CAB, LLC,

Defendants.

__________________________________________

|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|

 
Case No.: A-12-669926-C
Dept. No. I

Hearing Date: December 14, 2017
Hearing Time: 9:00 a.m.

DEFENDANTS’ SUPPLEMENT AS ORDERED BY THE COURT ON JANUARY 2, 2018

Defendants, by and through their attorneys of record, hereby submit this Supplemental

information as ordered by the Court on January 2, 2018.  At the scheduled hearing on Defendants’

Motion for Summary Judgment, Plaintiffs’ counsel addressed the issue of Plaintiffs’ Motion for

Partial Summary Judgment that had been previously heard on December 14, 2017.  As a result of

that prior hearing, the Court had already ordered Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment

and Motion to Place Evidentiary Burden on Defendants to Establish Lower Tier Minimum Wage

and Declare NAC 608.102(2)(B) Invalid DENIED as to Motion to Place Evidentiary Burden on

Defendants to Establish Lower Tier Minimum Wage and Declare NAC 608.102(2)(B) Invalid and

Page 1 of  11

Case Number: A-12-669926-C

Electronically Filed
1/9/2018 6:32 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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GRANTED only to the extent Plaintiff has established the liability claim; the only thing left are the

damages.  (Court Minutes, 12/14/17.)

At the January 2, 2018 hearing on Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment, and the

unilateral reopening of arguments on Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment by Plaintiffs’

counsel, Leon Greenberg, the Court ordered that Defendants should provide additional authority as

to why they should be allowed to contest the accuracy of the data and numbers prepared by Plaintiffs

at the upcoming trial.

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. OVERVIEW IN RESPONSE:

Since the commencement of this action, over 5 years now, Defendants have consistently

maintained that the source documents are the most accurate documents for any calculation of hours

and wages for each employee.  Defendants have never swayed from this position.  The source

documents, by law, have always been available to any employee who requests a copy of his/her own

information.  A Cab keeps all source documents in compliance with all State and Federal laws.  See

NRS 706.8844.1  Contrary to Plaintiffs’ statements to the Court, A Cab has not been found to be in

1  NRS 706.8844  Trip sheets.

1.  A certificate holder shall require the certificate holder's drivers to keep a daily trip
sheet in a form to be prescribed by the Taxicab Authority, including, without limitation, in
electronic form.

      2.  At the beginning of each period of duty the driver shall record on the driver's trip sheet:

      (a) The driver's name and the number of the taxicab;

      (b) The time at which the driver began the period of duty by means of a time clock
provided by the certificate holder;

 ***
      4.  At the end of each period of duty the driver shall record on the driver's trip sheet:

      (a) The time at which the driver ended the period of duty by means of a time clock
provided by the certificate holder; (NRS 706.8844)  emphasis added
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violation of record keeping laws by state and federal agencies.

Plaintiffs, to the contrary, have argued that they needed every variety of data, documents, and

information - most of which was not kept in the normal business course - but had to be created to

appease Plaintiffs.  At great expense to the company, both in terms of manpower hours to complete

the tasks and the sheer number of copies, thousands of documents have been copied in paper form

and electronically and provided to Plaintiffs’ counsel in this matter.  As confirmed by the Plaintiff

representatives and the Plaintiffs’ experts all efforts and expenditures by A Cab were for naught, as

nothing was ever even reviewed by the requesting party.  (The Court has the excerpts and citations

in prior briefing, to the depositions of Plaintiffs’ experts wherein they concede their lack of review.) 

Of note is the inconsistency before the Court wherein Plaintiffs have repeatedly argued

against their current position, that A Cab did not keep accurate records.  See Plaintiffs’

Complaint: “Defendants intentionally acted to not institute any system that would keep an express,

confirmed and accurate record of the hours worked by such taxi driver employees...”  Second

Amended and Supplemental Complaint, ¶ 17.   Plaintiffs now make a 180 degree turn, asking the

Court to accept as definitive the number of hours their experts offer of the “hours worked” based

upon select portions of Defendants’ records.  

Following Plaintiffs’ most recent oral request for reconsideration, the Court is now indicating

its inclination to tie the Defendants’ hands at trial from demonstrating actual hours worked, as

opposed to Plaintiffs’ estimates.  Already Defendants are in the position of having to disprove a

negative of estimates, when the burden of proof should be borne by the Plaintiffs.  In support of their

failure to acquire actual hours, Plaintiffs argue the records are too voluminous for review.  Had

Plaintiffs commenced looking at even 1 record 5 years ago, the task at hand would be manageable. 

Further, each Plaintiff is in a position to review his/her own record, and determine if he or she has

actually been underpaid.  No one has bothered to do that.  As confirmed in their depositions, the

representative Plaintiff merely signed up for a class action with the attitude of “if I get something, I

get something.”

Now on the eve of trial, Plaintiffs present a very limited set of data which they request the

Court to accept as “undisputed,” but which has been shown to be unreliable by the only expert who
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actually tested the data, Scott Leslie.

The Court indicated that if Defendants had provided sworn discovery responses indicating

that the data provided to Plaintiffs represented hours worked by each driver, then they should be

precluded from disputing this fact at trial.  In response, a thorough search was conducted for any

discovery response indicating such a statement; and there is none.  To the contrary, the following

examples support that A Cab has disputed the accuracy of presenting the limited information

provided by Plaintiffs for the proposition which they say it represents.

II. Discovery Responses:

The issue of time records was addressed in August 2013 before certification, and the

response referenced the tripsheets as the source document for ascertaining hours.  In the Response to

Plaintiffs’ First Request for Production of Documents, Defendant indicated that the information of

time a driver worked was contained in the daily tripsheets:

Request No. 4. TIME RECORDS - Produce copies of all documents that set forth the amount

of time the named plaintiffs and all persons similarly situated to the named plaintiffs were working

for defendants each day or each week while they were employed by the defendants from October 8,

2008 through the present.  This request includes production of all records such as “punch clock”

entries and taxicab meter records, indicating times of day that such person performed, started, or

ended, particular activities during any workday they were employed by defendants, whether or not

defendants considered such times to be part of the time such persons were “working,” including, but

not limited to, the times such persons arrived at or left defendants’ business location or the times

they started or ended rest or meal breaks.  This information, if created, kept or maintained and fully

available in computer file form, is sought in that form and you should contact plaintiff’s counsel to

arrange for production of such computer file(s) in an appropriate format.  In the event that such

materials are not available in computer file form, the information sought in paper form would

include, but not be limited to, copies of ledgers, time clock punch cards, or reconciliations or other

writings reflecting the amounts of time each such employee was working, or that records other

activities including activities that the defendants may have not deemed to be work, during each such

person’s workday(s) while they were employed by the defendants.
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RESPONSE NO. 4:  Objection, this request is overbroad in terms of time pursuant to NRS 608.260;

requests information that would invade the privacy of individuals not a party to this litigation; and is

vague and ambiguous.  This request also calls for proprietary information as the information is

contained on A Cab’s trip sheets.  This Request also seeks information the discovery of which is

overly burdensome to Defendant as there are approximately 46,080 trip sheets per year which are

not kept by name of employee.  Without waiving these objections, Defendant will make a diligent

search for responsive documents, and will copy and produce those within 30 days.  (Exhibit 1,

Response to Plaintiffs’ First Request for Production of Documents dated August 26, 2013, emphasis

added.) 

In Plaintiffs’ request above, it is clearly stated that “In the event that such materials are not

available in computer file form, the information sought in paper form would include, but not be

limited to, copies of ledgers, time clock punch cards, or reconciliations or other writings reflecting

the amounts of time each such employee was working, or that records other activities including

activities that the defendants may have not deemed to be work, during each such person’s

workday(s) while they were employed by the defendants.”  

Defendants have always maintained that this information is only available on the tripsheets,

and is not in a computer file form.  Defendants have provided Plaintiffs with hard copies of all the

tripsheets for both named Plaintiffs.  Defendants have also provided Plaintiffs with scanned copies

(PDF files) of all tripsheets for the class period.  To address the Court’s inquiry, Defendants have

never sworn in a discovery response that the time records are kept in the Quickbooks electronic data

which Plaintiffs now seek to rely upon.  This is no secret kept from Plaintiffs; they have known this

from every discovery response, discovery hearing, and depositions that they should commence

review of source documents; and yet insisted on choosing this route. 

III. Deposition Transcripts:

Each of A Cab’s management employees who were deposed referred Plaintiffs to the

accuracy of the trip sheets for determining hours worked; not to any information contained in

Plaintiffs’ electronic data.

. . .
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1. Deposition of Jon Gathright, General Manager:

BY MR. GREENBERG:

Q. To your knowledge, has A Cab ever kept records of the hours its taxi drivers work besides

the information that is recorded in their trip sheets?

A. No.  (Exhibit 2, Deposition of Jon Gathright, p. 55:3-7, emphasis added.)

Q. What would the trip sheets tell A Cab that would help them reach the conclusion that they

were seeking about whether the drivers were or were not paid minimum wage?

A. They had a time in and a time out.

Q. So it is correct that A Cab engaged in this review of the trip sheets for the purpose of

determining the hours that the cab drivers had worked in particular --

A. That's correct.

Q. -- time periods?

A. Yes.  (Exhibit 2, Deposition of Jon Gathright, p. 56:21 - 57:6.)

2. Deposition of Edwin Borowski, Shift Supervisor:

BY DANA SNIEGOCKI: 

Q. You don't know how you know drivers work eleven hour shifts?

A. By looking at their time that they come in I put them up, but I don't know if they work, how

many hours they work.

Q. You mentioned looking at the time when they come in.  What is their time when they come

in?  What does that mean?

A. It's the time is when they clock out.

Q. How do they clock out?

A. With a time clock.

Q. How do they operate that time clock?

A. They do it.  I don't know.

Q. Well, you said you would look at their time that they clock out?

A. Yeah.  It's on the back of trip sheet.

Q. So there's a time on the back of the trip sheet?
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A. Yes.

Q. How does that time get there?

A. The driver puts it on there.

Q. And he does that by using a time clock?

A. Uh-huh.  (Exhibit 3, Deposition of Edwin Borowski, p. 68:13 - 69:10, emphasis added.)

3. Deposition of Sam Wood, Supervisor:

BY LEON GREENBERG:

Q. Did you review those trip sheets when you were a manager, I mean after they were

completed by the drivers and turned back into A Cab?

A. I would check them for legibility.

Q. Would you check them for anything else?

A. Validity.

Q. What would you check to see was valid?

A. Rides.  There was no certain way to prove it or anything but if something looked out of 

order and their rides or their break time, if it overlapped, say, a trip, you know, we would

have to -- there would be something wrong.   (Exhibit 4, Deposition of Sam Wood, p. 32:5-

16.)

Q. What would you find on a trip sheet that was incorrect or not making sense when you

reviewed it as a manager that you would then do something about?

A. The times.

Q. What do you mean by times?

A. If a break or a ride they have the end time and the out time, in time and out time, if they 

interfered with each other it would be -- it would need to be corrected.

Q. So if the trip sheet indicated a driver was simultaneously on a break while also transporting a

passenger that would be an inconsistency that you would take note of; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. What would you do in that situation?

A. I would have the driver correct it.  Ask him to correct it so that we can more clearly read the
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sheet.  (Exhibit 4, Deposition of Sam Wood, p. 33:1-19, emphasis added.)

4. Deposition of Creighton J. Nady, Owner

Mr. Nady’s deposition was taken on three occasions by Plaintiffs in this matter, over the

objections of defense counsel.  The Discovery Commissioner allowed his additional depositions to

be taken with the instruction that there would be different lines of questioning, not to re-ask the same

questions yet again.  In his first deposition taken on August 18, 2015, Mr. Nady was asked

pertaining to hours on tripsheets and in Quickbooks:

Q. [D]oes she [payroll person] actually enter into the QuickBooks system a number of hours per

shift?

A. No.  I think she puts it on the trip sheet. (Exhibit 5, Deposition of Creighton J. Nady, 8/18/15

p. 119:22-24.)

Q. Since the institution of this lawsuit, has it [A Cab] been keeping that information, the total

number of hours of each driver during each pay period?

A. I think -- I think you'll find if you look at the trip sheets, you'll find how many hours was on

that paycheck.  I think if you look at the trip sheets as they're stapled together, there will be a

note on each one of those weeks for every person how many hours there was.  It's either on a

big thing on each page, or it's on a tape from an adding machine with the number of hours

added up there.  And you could see then the tape where we added 8, 12, 10, 11, 5, 4, 6, 7,

whatever we had.  We would put that on the tape, put them together, and that would be what

we would use as -- when we were calculating payroll.  That's the way it was.

Q. Okay.  So what you're telling me is that if a  driver worked ten shifts in a payroll period, the

person  responsible for payroll would take those ten trip sheets from those shifts, go through

each one of them, manually  add them up with a calculator for pay period total of hours based

upon those ten trip sheets and then staple that piece of paper from the adding machine to

those ten trip sheets; is that correct?

A. That's how we used to do it, yes.   Id., 122:18-123:16.

Later in this first deposition, Mr. Nady was asked repeatedly about the number which is

reflected in one of the Quickbooks columns, which has now been taken out of context.  Mr. Nady
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indicated more than 5 times that he did not know what that number reflected, and would not confirm

that it reflected what Plaintiff’s counsel desperately wanted him to confirm.  As this Court is aware,

basic deposition practice dictates that the question should not be asked more than once after it has

been answered by the witness.  Further, Plaintiffs’ counsel was instructed by the Discovery

Commissioner on this issue to ask the question once, and to move on.   Here, the line of questioning

reflects a badgering of the witness after he indicated he did not have knowledge as to what Plaintiff

was seeking:

Q. What does that number 57.08 refer to?

A. Well, minimum wage subsidy is based on the fact that our total number of his total wages

were not enough; that if we did his calculation based on the number of hours that he had, it

was -- that his rate of pay would have been 4.27 an hour.  Wait a second.  Let me make sure

of what I speak here.  So we had to -- he had 57.8 hours of hours, and we subsidized it from

4.27. So I think if you add those two together, and you multiply one times the other, you get

that.  His commission was -- wait a minute here.  I'm going to guess, so I don't want to do

that right now.  It's been so long.

Q. I don't want you to guess, Mr. Nady.

A. All right.  Then I don't know.

Q. My question though was limited to the number that appears at that intersection of minimum

wage subsidy in QTY where it says 57.08. Does that number refer to the number of hours

this person worked during a pay period?

A. I just said a minute ago.  This will be twice now.  I don't know.  This is not a current

paycheck, so I don't know.  But I will grant you this:  I think it has something to do with the

number of hours, but it  might be something else.  Id., 151:5-152:4.

Despite these answers from the witness indicating he did not know what the number

represented, Plaintiffs’ counsel continued questioning the witness with calculations which the

witness confirmed he did not know what they represented, until he eventually became confused:

Q. So the number that appears at that intersection of QTY and minimum wage subsidy on these

pay stubs is the hours worked that A Cab has maintained for this person in their records for
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this pay period; correct?

A. Right.

Q. On the pay stubs that A Cab currently produces, do they identify a specific number on those

pay stubs that they give the employee as the amount of hours that A Cab has determined they

worked during the pay period?

A. I think it's the -- I don't know, remember?

Q. Okay.  Has A Cab ever given employees pay stubs that indicate the amount of hours by

identifying it as hours or time worked for the pay period?

A. I don't know.  I would estimate -- I would guess that they know what it is.  If it's applicable. 

Id., 152:5-156:15.

The Discovery Commissioner allowed two additional depositions of Mr. Nady for new lines

of questioning.  Any reference to the same questions from this first deposition being asked again in

deposition number 2 and 3 are improper and should not be considered by the Court.  The purpose of

a deposition is to get to the truth of the matter, not to beat a witness into submission by repeating the

same question until a different answer is had.  

IV. Plaintiffs’ Experts Admit They Have Not Calculated Any Actual Damages

Plaintiffs seek to have their calculation of hours and damages to remain undisputed by

Defendants.  Yet Plaintiffs’ own experts have both indicated they have not calculated actual

damages.  Both experts stated they have only provided a tool for the fact finder to plug in what they

may ascertain to be damages, if any.  In this instance, Plaintiffs’ counsel is acting as the fact finder,

seeking Court approval for the numbers he has selected, and the methodology he has selected.

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .

. . .
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Plaintiffs chose to rely upon electronic data rather than source documents.  Defendants

should not be precluded from presenting evidence to demonstrate the issues and errors in Plaintiffs’

methodology.  Further, as this Court is aware, Plaintiffs’ expert report is a hearsay document that

cannot serve as a basis for summary judgment.  It would be an error for this Court to grant summary

judgment on this issue, when Plaintiffs have not even demonstrated a representative Plaintiff for this

time period, much less any liability or actual damages for any such person.

DATED this   9th  day of January, 2018.

RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICES, P. C.

   /s/    Esther C, Rodriguez, Esq.           
Esther C. Rodriguez, Esq.
Nevada State Bar No.  006473
10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150
Las Vegas, Nevada  89145
Attorneys for Defendants

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY on this   9th  day of January, 2018, I electronically filed the foregoing

with the Eighth Judicial District Court Clerk of Court using the E-file and Serve System which will

send a notice of electronic service to the following:

Leon Greenberg, Esq.
Leon Greenberg Professional Corporation
2965 South Jones Boulevard, Suite E4
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
Co-Counsel for Plaintiffs

Christian Gabroy, Esq.
Gabroy Law Offices
170 South Green Valley Parkway # 280
Henderson, Nevada 89012
Co-Counsel for Plaintiffs

 /s/ Susan Dillow                                                    
An Employee of Rodriguez Law Offices, P.C.
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